PERNIX THERAPEUTICS HOLDINGS, INC.

Form 10-Q November 12, 2013

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION Washington, DC 20549

FORM 10-Q

(Mark
Onal

b Quarterly report pursuant to section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

For the quarterly period ended: September 30, 2013

o Transition report pursuant to section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

For the transition period from: ______ to ____

001-14494 Commission File Number

PERNIX
THERAPEUTICS
HOLDINGS, INC.
(Exact name of
Registrant as specified
in its charter)

Maryland (State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization)

33-0724736 (I.R.S. Employer Identification Number)

10863 Rockley Rd Houston, TX (Address of principal executive offices)

77099 (Zip Code)

(832) 934-1825 (Registrant's telephone number, including area code)

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the Registrant was required to file such report(s)) and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes b No ...

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T

($\S 232.405$ of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files). Yes \flat No $\ddot{}$.

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company. See definitions of "large accelerated filer," "accelerated filer," and "smaller reporting company" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one):

0	Accelerated filer	þ
o eporting company)	Smaller reporting company	0
ther the Registrant is	a shell company (as defined in Rule 12	b-2 of the Exchange Act).
e were 37,164,476 sha	res outstanding of the Registrant's con	nmon stock, par value \$0.01
	eporting company) ther the Registrant is a	o Smaller reporting company

PERNIX THERAPEUTICS HOLDINGS, INC.

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q For the Three and Nine Months Ended September 30, 2013

INDEX

PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1.	<u>Financial Statements</u>	
	Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets as of September 30, 2013 (unaudited) and	
	<u>December 31, 2012</u>	1
	Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (unaudited) for the Three	
	and Nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012	2
	Condensed Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity as of September 30, 2013	
	(unaudited)	3
	Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (unaudited) for the Nine months	
	ended September 30, 2013 and 2012	4
	Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements	5
Item 2.	Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations	27
Item 3.	Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk	42
Item 4.	Controls and Procedures	43
PART II	. <u>INFORMATION</u>	
Item 1.	<u>Legal Proceedings</u>	44
Item 1A.	Risk Factors	44
Item 2.	Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds	53
Item 3.	<u>Defaults upon Senior Securities</u>	53
Item 4.	Mine Safety Disclosures	53
Item 5.	Other Information	53
Item 6.	<u>Exhibits</u>	54
	<u>Signatures</u>	55
ii		

Table Of Contents

Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

The Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 provides a "safe harbor" for forward-looking statements to encourage companies to provide prospective information, so long as those statements are identified as forward-looking and are accompanied by meaningful cautionary statements identifying important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those discussed in the statement. We desire to take advantage of these "safe harbor" provisions with regard to the forward-looking statements in this Form 10-Q and in the documents that are incorporated herein by reference. These forward-looking statements reflect our current views with respect to future events and financial performance. Specifically, forward-looking statements may include:

projections of revenues, expenses, income, income per share and other performance measures;

statements regarding expansion of operations, including entrance into new markets and development of products; and

statements preceded by, followed by or that include the words "estimate," "plan," "project," "forecast," "intend," "expect," "anticipate," "believe," "seek," "target" or similar expressions.

These forward-looking statements express our best judgment based on currently available information and we believe that the expectations reflected in our forward-looking statements are reasonable.

By their nature, however, forward-looking statements often involve assumptions about the future. Such assumptions are subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those described in the forward-looking statements. As such, we cannot guarantee you that the expectations reflected in our forward-looking statements will actually be achieved. Actual results may differ materially from those in the forward-looking statements due to, among other things, the following factors:

changes in general business, economic and market conditions;

volatility in the securities markets generally or in the market price of our stock specifically; and

the risks outlined in the section entitled "Risk Factors" contained in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012 and in our Quarterly Report on this Form 10-Q.

We caution you not to place undue reliance on any forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date of this Form 10-Q. Except as required by law, we do not undertake any obligation to publicly update or release any revisions to these forward-looking statements to reflect any events or circumstances after the date hereof or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events.

iii

PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PERNIX THERAPEUTICS HOLDINGS, INC. CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

ASSETS Current assets:	September 30, 2013 (unaudited)	December 31, 2012
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 9,690,898	\$23,022,821
Accounts receivable, net	23,336,704	36,647,087
Inventory, net	16,517,332	22,014,405
Prepaid expenses and other current assets	6,694,481	3,888,117
Note Receivable	4,711,700	, i
Prepaid income taxes	847,382	2,024,411
Deferred income taxes	6,156,000	8,118,500
Total current assets	67,954,497	95,715,341
Property and equipment, net	7,249,810	6,946,944
Other assets:		
Investments		5,710,526
Goodwill	53,825,276	37,160,911
Intangible assets, net	100,312,371	104,054,431
Note Receivable	4,483,500	
Other long-term assets	1,226,329	1,858,534
Total assets	\$ 235,051,783	\$251,446,687
LIABILITIES		
Current liabilities:		
Accounts payable	\$7,089,259	\$5,045,488
Accrued personnel expenses	3,419,925	2,881,967
Accrued allowances	29,196,317	30,054,551
Other accrued expenses	5,063,980	5,548,084
Put option and contingent consideration – Cypress acquisition	15,649,369	6,562,169
Other liabilities	1,300,793	1,568,495
Debt	13,883,224	2,286,513
Total current liabilities	75,602,867	53,947,267
Long-term liabilities		
Put option and contingent consideration – Cypress acquisition	4,494,800	7,765,511
Other liabilities	3,103,406	
Debt	1,345,554	41,349,563
Deferred income taxes	34,918,000	35,535,500
Total liabilities	119,464,627	138,597,841
Commitments and contingencies (Note 17)		
Temporary Equity		
Common stock subject to repurchase (3,565,692 and 4,427,084 shares as of		
September 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively)	27,634,113	34,309,901

STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY		
Common stock, \$.01 par value, 90,000,000 shares authorized, 39,903,469 and		
34,994,828 issued and 37,783,578 and 34,030,351 outstanding at September 30,		
2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively)	335,549	296,033
Treasury stock, at cost (2,119,891 and 2,072,810 shares held at September 30, 2013		
and December 31, 2012, respectively)	(3,980,629)	(3,772,410)
Additional paid-in capital	91,229,563	58,606,942
Retained earnings	368,560	20,433,262
Accumulated other comprehensive income		2,975,118
Total equity	87,953,043	78,538,945
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity	\$235,051,783	\$251,446,687

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.

PERNIX THERAPEUTICS HOLDINGS, INC. CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS) INCOME (Unaudited)

	Three Months Ended September 30,		Nine mont Septemb	ber 30,
N	2013	2012	2013	2012
Net revenues	\$18,295,130	\$18,134,158	\$60,946,404	\$43,115,517
Costs and operating expenses:	0.571.010	7 750 761	22 011 615	15 061 161
Cost of product sales Selling, general and administrative expenses	9,571,818 11,739,675	7,759,761 9,837,217	33,811,615 38,960,310	15,861,461 24,302,513
Research and development expense	633,419	332,971	3,632,719	511,694
Loss from the operations of the joint venture with	055,419	332,971	5,052,719	311,094
SEEK				240,195
Depreciation and amortization expense	2,672,291	885,982	7,466,991	2,320,589
(Gain) loss on sale of assets	(3,601)	002,702	1,279	2,520,505
Total costs and operating expenses	24,613,602	18,815,931	83,872,914	42,236,452
	_ 1,0 - 2 ,0 0 -		00,01=,2 - 1	,,
Loss from operations	(6,318,472)	(681,773)	(22,926,510)	(120,935)
Other income (expense):				
Change in fair value of put right	(2,145,700)		(6,116,489)	
Change in fair value of contingent consideration	522,000		805,000	
Interest expense, net	(782,782)	7,431	(3,491,966)	(59,976)
Gain on sale of investment			3,605,263	
Total other (loss) income, net	(2,406,482)	7,431	(5,198,192)	(59,976)
Loss before income taxes	(8,724,954)	(674,342)	(28,124,702)	(180,911)
Income tax (benefit) provision	(2,676,000)	(404,000)	(8,060,000)	(170,000)
	* (5 0 40 0 74)	*	+ (= 0 o c (= 0 o c)	****
Net Loss	\$(6,048,954)	\$(270,342)	\$(20,064,702)	\$(10,911)
Reclassification adjustment for net realized gain				
included in net income (loss), net of income tax		808,374	(2,975,118)	2,286,874
included in net income (loss), net of income tax		000,374	(2,973,116)	2,280,874
Comprehensive (Loss) income	\$(6,048,954)	\$538,032	\$(23,039,820)	\$2 275 963
Comprehensive (Boss) meome	Ψ (0,010,231)	Ψ330,032	Ψ(23,037,020)	Ψ2,273,703
Net Loss per share, basic	\$(0.16)	\$(0.01)	\$(0.55)	\$0.00
Net Loss per share, diluted	\$(0.16)	\$(0.01)		\$0.00
Weighted-average common shares, basic	37,120,890	29,069,119	36,204,340	27,765,275
Weighted-average common shares, diluted	37,120,890	29,069,119	36,204,340	27,765,275

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.

PERNIX THERAPEUTICS HOLDINGS, INC. CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (Unaudited)

					Accumulated	
		Additional			Other	
	Common	Paid-In	Treasury	Retained	Comprehensive)
	Stock	Capital	Stock	Earnings	income	Total
Balance at December 31,		•		Ü		
2012	\$ 296,033	\$ 58,606,942	\$ (3,772,410)	\$ 20,433,262	\$ 2,975,118	\$ 78,538,945
-	, , , , , , , ,	, , , -	1 (-))	, ,, , , ,	, , , , , , ,	, , , .
Stock-based compensation	2,600	1,513,653				1,516,253
Cancelled/reclass par	2,000	1,515,655				1,010,200
of unvested restricted						
stock	(9,477)	9,477				
Issuance of stock options	(2,177)	, ,,,,,				
for services						
from non-employees		426,030				426,030
Issuance of common stock		420,030				120,030
upon the exercise of						
options	400	111,200				111,600
Issuance of common stock	400	111,200				111,000
in connection with						
employee stock purchase						
plan	223	72,192				72,415
Forfeit of restricted	223	12,172				72,713
common stock in payment						
of income tax liability	(394)		(208,219)			(208,613)
Issuance of common stock	(3)4		(200,21)			(200,013)
in connection with the						
Somaxon acquisition	36,576	23,803,848				23,840,424
Issuance of restricted	30,370	23,003,040				23,040,424
stock in lieu of cash						
payment	977	103,047				104,024
Cancellation of Put Shares	8,611	6,667,174				6,675,785
Income tax benefit on	6,011	0,007,174				0,073,763
stock based awards		(84,000)				(84,000)
Net loss		(84,000)		(20,064,702	\	
Reclassification				(20,004,702)	(20,064,702)
adjustment for net realized						
3						
gain included in						
net income (loss), net of					(2.075.110)	(2.075.119.)
income tax					(2,975,118)	(2,975,118)
Balance at September 30,	¢ 225 540	¢ 01 220 562	¢ (2.000 (20)	¢ 260 560	ф	¢ 97.052.042
2013	\$ 335,549	\$ 91,229,363	\$ (3,980,629)	\$ 208,200	\$	\$ 87,953,043

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.

PERNIX THERAPEUTICS HOLDINGS, INC. CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (Unaudited)

Nine months ended September 30, 2013 2012

Cash flows from operating activities:		
Net loss	\$ (20,064,702)	\$ (10,911)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash from operating activities:		
Depreciation	488,187	162,814
Amortization of intangibles and interest accretion of contingent consideration	6,978,804	2,157,775
Amortization of deferred financing costs	1,120,390	
Interest accretion on notes receivable	(28,200)	
Deferred income tax benefit	(10,230,000)	(517,388)
Gain on sale of investment	(3,605,263)	
Loss on disposal of assets	1,279	19,845
Stock compensation expense	1,516,253	1,901,568
Expense from stock options issued in exchange for services	426,030	540,252
Change in fair value of put right	6,116,489	
Change in fair value of contingent consideration	(805,000)	
Loss from the operations of the joint venture with SEEK		240,195
Changes in operating assets and liabilities (net of effect of acquisitions):		
Accounts receivable	14,507,263	855,760
Inventory	4,902,870	190,352
Prepaid expenses and other assets	(2,969,184)	(147,639)
Accounts payable	100,447	83,337
Income taxes	1,112,785	(2,299,606)
Accrued expenses	(8,995,348)	(2,502,663)
Net cash from operating activities	(9,426,900)	673,691
Cash flows from investing activities:		
Proceeds from sale of investment	4,605,263	
Acquisition of Cypress	(309,589)	
Acquisition of gastroenterology product license		(2,400,000)
Proceeds from sale of certain Cypress intangible assets	19,588,137	
Acquisition of Great Southern Laboratories ("GSL")		(4,666,964)
Acquisition of license for non-codeine antitussive drug in development		(5,000,000)
Other intangibles		(850,000)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment	26,600	7,550
Purchase of property, plant and equipment	(509,957)	(279,673)
Net cash from investing activities	23,400,454	(13,189,087)
Cash flows from financing activities:		
Cash acquired in connection with acquisition of Somaxon	2,880,837	
Payments on original Midcap Loan	(12,497,196)	
Payments on term loan	(10,000,000)	
Payment on revolving credit facility	(5,760,836)	
Payments on line of credit		(6,000,000)
Payment on contracts payable	(1,700,000)	(2,990,000)
		23,751,032

Edgar Filing: PERNIX THERAPEUTICS HOLDINGS, INC. - Form 10-Q

Proceeds from issuance of stock in additional offering, net of issuance costs of		
\$846,202		
Payments on mortgages and capital leases	(119,684)	(80,732)
Tax benefit on stock-based awards	(84,000)	148,000
Proceeds from issuance of stock	184,015	172,973
Payment of employee income tax liability with surrender of employee restricted		
stock	(208,613)	
Net cash from financing activities	(27,305,477)	15,001,273
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents	(13,331,923)	2,485,877
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period	23,022,821	34,551,180
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period	\$ 9,690,898	\$ 37,037,057
Supplemental disclosure:		
Cash paid for income taxes	\$ 1,370,379	\$ 2,446,643
Interest paid during the period	\$ 838,801	\$ 116,105
Non-cash transaction		
Acquisition of Omeclamox® license - contract payable	\$	\$ 2,000,000
Accrued bonus paid in unrestricted common stock	\$	\$ 199,770
Accrued severance paid in restricted common stock	\$ 104,024	\$
Assumption of mortgage in acquisition of GSL		\$ 1,641,668
Assumption of capital leases in acquisition of GSL		\$ 106,869
Acquisition of license and supply agreement – contract payable	\$ 500,000	\$ 850,000
Acquisition of Cypress and Somaxon – Purchase price adjustment (see Note 4)	\$ 5,916,121	\$
Acquisition of Somaxon – Fair value of common stock	\$ 23,840,424	\$
Non-cash intangible value of deferred tax liability related to intellectual		
property license acquired	\$	\$ 2,687,368

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.

Table Of Contents

PERNIX THERAPEUTICS HOLDINGS, INC. NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE THREE AND NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013 AND 2012 (Unaudited)

Note 1. Company Overview

Pernix Therapeutics Holdings, Inc. ("Pernix", the "Company", "we", our") is a specialty pharmaceutical company focused on the sales, marketing, manufacturing and development of branded, generic and over-the-counter, which we refer to herein as OTC, pharmaceutical products for pediatric and adult indications in a variety of therapeutic areas. Through the Company's wholly-owned subsidiary, Pernix Sleep (formerly Somaxon Pharmaceuticals, Inc. "Somaxon"), the Company markets SILENOR® (doxepin), a non- controlled substance approved for the treatment of insomnia characterized by difficulty with sleep maintenance. The Company promotes branded pediatric and gastroenterology products through its sales force. The Company markets generic products in the areas of cough and cold, pain, vitamins, dermatology, antibiotics and gastroenterology through the Company's wholly-owned subsidiaries, Macoven Pharmaceuticals and Cypress Pharmaceuticals. The Company's wholly-owned subsidiary, Pernix Manufacturing, manufactures and packages products for the Company's subsidiaries and for others in the pharmaceutical industry in a wide range of dosage forms.

Business Combinations

On March 6, 2013, the Company acquired all of the outstanding common stock of Somaxon Pharmaceuticals, Inc. pursuant to an agreement and plan of merger dated December 10, 2012. As a result of the merger, each outstanding share of Somaxon common stock was converted into the right to receive 0.477 shares of the Company's common stock, with cash paid in lieu of fractional shares. As a result of the merger, the Company issued an aggregate of approximately 3,665,689 shares of its common stock to the former stockholders of Somaxon. At the time of acquisition, Somaxon was only marketing Silenor. The company's name was changed from Somaxon to Pernix Sleep, Inc.

On December 31, 2012, the Company completed the acquisition of Cypress Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a generic pharmaceutical company, and its subsidiary Hawthorn Pharmaceuticals, Inc, a branded pharmaceutical company, both of which were privately owned companies, collectively referred to herein as Cypress. The Company paid \$52 million in cash, issued 4,427,084 shares of our common stock ("the acquisition shares") having an aggregate market value equal to approximately \$34.3 million based on the closing price per share of \$7.75 as reported on the NYSE MKT LLC on December 31, 2012, and agreed to pay up to \$6.5 million in holdback and contingent payments, \$4.5 million to be deposited in escrow on December 15, 2013 and \$5.0 million in shares of our common stock upon the occurrence of a milestone event, for an aggregate purchase price of up to \$102.3 million. The Company also granted a put right to the sellers pursuant to which the sellers may put the acquisition shares to the Company at approximately \$5.38 per share, with such put right being exercisable from January 1, 2014 to January 31, 2014 under certain circumstances. Cypress offers a wide array of branded and generic pharmaceutical products in the areas of cough and cold, nutritional supplements, analgesics, urinary tract, women's health, pre-natal vitamins and dental health, as well as allergy, respiratory, iron deficiency, nephrology and pain management. See Note 4, Business Combinations and Other Acquisitions, and Note 12, Debt, for further discussion.

Asset Dispositions

Effective September 11, 2013, Pernix and Cypress entered into the Joinder Agreement and First Amendment to Asset Purchase Agreement (the "Purchase Agreement Amendment") with Breckenridge Pharmaceutical, Inc., a Florida corporation ("Breckenridge"), to amend certain of the terms of the Asset Purchase Agreement (the "Purchase Agreement")

between the Company and Breckenridge dated August 5, 2013. The Purchase Agreement Amendment amends the Purchase Agreement to, among other things, remove Arbinoxa, a currently marketed product, from the products being acquired by Breckenridge, add an additional product, Folic Acid 2.5 mg, an inactive product owned by Macoven, as a product to be acquired by Breckenridge, and provide for a reduction of the aggregate purchase price to \$29,550,000 (which is net of a \$150,000 prepayment by the Company of its share of expenses for the transfer of certain of the assets to Breckenridge).

On September 11, 2013, the Company completed the sale (the "Closing") of certain of its generic assets held by Cypress (the "Assets") to Breckenridge. The acquisition was consummated pursuant to the terms of the Purchase Agreement, as amended. Breckenridge paid the Company \$2,000,000 in cash upon execution of the Purchase Agreement, and \$17,850,000, before customary closing costs of approximately \$173,000, in cash at Closing, and issued two promissory notes, each in an amount of \$4,850,000, with one due on the first anniversary after Closing and the other due on the second anniversary after Closing, for an aggregate purchase price of up to \$29,550,000. See Notes 5 and 12 for further discussion.

Table Of Contents

Note 2. Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Interim Financial Statements

The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States ("GAAP") and with the instructions to Form 10-Q and Rule 10-01 of Regulation S-X. Certain information and footnote disclosures normally included in financial statements prepared in accordance with GAAP have been condensed or omitted. These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012.

In the opinion of management, the accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements include all adjustments (consisting of normal recurring adjustments) necessary for a fair presentation of these financial statements. Operating results for three and nine-months period ended September 30, 2013 are not necessarily indicative of the results for future periods or the full year.

Principles of Consolidation

The condensed consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Pernix's wholly-owned subsidiaries: Pernix Therapeutics, LLC, GTA GP, Inc., GTA LP, Inc., Gaine, Inc., Macoven, Pernix Manufacturing (acquired July 1, 2012), Respicopea, Inc. (acquired May 14, 2012), Cypress (acquired December 31, 2012) and Pernix Sleep, Inc. (acquired March 6, 2013). Respicopea, Pernix Manufacturing, Cypress and Pernix Sleep are included only for the periods subsequent to their acquisitions. Transactions between and among the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries are eliminated.

Management's Estimates and Assumptions

The preparation of condensed consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the condensed consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. The Company reviews all significant estimates affecting the condensed consolidated financial statements on a recurring basis and records the effect of any necessary adjustments prior to their issuance. Significant estimates of the Company include: revenue recognition, sales allowances such as returns on product sales, government program rebates, managed care rebates, customer coupon redemptions, wholesaler/pharmacy discounts, product service fees, rebates and chargebacks, sales commissions, amortization, depreciation, stock-based compensation, the determination of fair values of assets and liabilities in connection with business combinations, and deferred income taxes.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

A financial instrument is defined as cash equivalent, evidence of an ownership interest in an entity, or a contract that creates a contractual obligation or right to deliver or receive cash or another financial instrument from another party. The Company's financial instruments consist primarily of cash equivalents (including our Regions Trust Account which invests in short-term securities consisting of sweep accounts, money market accounts and money market mutual funds), an investment in equity securities (TherapeuticsMD) (which was divested on June 14, 2013), contingent consideration and a put right in connection with the acquisition of Cypress.

Fair value is defined as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market

participants on the measurement date. The fair value hierarchy is based on three levels of inputs, of which the first two are considered observable and the last unobservable, that may be used to measure fair value as follows:

- Level 1 Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities as of the reporting date.
- Level 2 Inputs other than Level 1 that are observable, either directly or indirectly, such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities; quoted prices in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities as of the reporting date.
- Level 3 Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities.

Table Of Contents

Revenue Recognition

The Company's consolidated net revenues represent the Company's net product sales and collaboration revenues. The Company records all of its revenue from product sales and collaboration or co-promotion agreements when realized or realizable and earned. Revenue is realized or realizable and earned when all of the following criteria are met: (1) existence of persuasive evidence of an arrangement; (2) occurrence of delivery or rendering of services; (3) the seller's price to the buyer is fixed or determinable; and (4) reasonable assurance of collectability. The Company records revenue from product sales when the customer takes ownership and assumes risk of loss. Royalty revenue is recognized upon shipment from the manufacturer to the purchaser. Co-promotion revenue is recognized in the period in which the product subject to the arrangement is sold. At the time of sale, estimates for a variety of sales deductions, such as returns on product sales, government program rebates, price adjustments and prompt pay discounts are recorded.

The following table sets forth a summary of Pernix's consolidated net revenues for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012.

	Three Months Ended		Nine mon	ths ended
	September 30,		September 30,	
	2013	2012	2013	2012
Gross product sales	\$ 32,229,805	\$ 20,369,936	\$ 106,237,421	\$ 57,523,259
Sales allowances	(15,079,509)	(5,509,712)	(50,245,967)	(19,312,944)
Net product sales	17,150,296	14,860,224	55,991,454	38,210,315
Manufacturing revenue	486,781	2,093,701	2,222,159	2,093,701
Co-promotion and other revenue	658,053	1,180,233	2,732,791	2,811,501
Net revenues	\$ 18,295,130	\$ 18,134,158	\$ 60,946,404	\$ 43,115,517

The Company's customers for its products consist of drug wholesalers, retail drug stores, mass merchandisers and grocery store pharmacies in the United States. The Company primarily sells its products directly to large national drug wholesalers, which in turn resell the products to smaller or regional wholesalers, retail pharmacies, chain drug stores, and other third parties. The following tables list the Company's customers that individually comprised greater than 10% of total gross product sales for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, or 10% of total accounts receivable as of September 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012.

		Three Months Ended September 30,		ns ended er 30,
	2013	2012	2013	2012
McKesson Corporation	30%	29%	34%	29%
AmerisourceBergen Drug Corporation	26%	7%	17%	11%
Cardinal Health, Inc.	22%	41%	27%	36%
Walgreens Corporation	5%	11%	6%	7%
Total	83%	88%	84%	83%

	Accounts Receivable		
	September 30, December		
	2013	2012	
AmerisourceBergen Drug Corporation	36%	6%	
McKesson Corporation	29%	17%	
Cardinal Health, Inc.	14%	43%	
Walgreens Corporation	3%	11%	

Total 82% 77%

Other Revenue Sharing Arrangements

The Company enters into collaborative arrangements to develop and commercialize drug candidates. Collaborative activities might include research and development, marketing and selling (including promotional activities and physician detailing), manufacturing, and distribution. These collaborations often require royalty or profit share payments, contingent upon the occurrence of certain future events linked to the success of the product. Revenues related to products sold by the Company pursuant to these arrangements are included in product sales, while other sources of revenue such as royalties and profit share receipts are included in collaboration, royalty and other revenue as further discussed below. Operating expenses for costs incurred pursuant to these arrangements are reported in their respective expense line item.

The Company seeks to enter into co-promotion agreements to enhance the promotional efforts and sales of products. The Company may enter into co-promotion agreements whereby it obtains rights to market other parties' products in return for certain commissions or percentages of revenue on the sales Pernix generates. Alternatively, Pernix may enter into co-promotion agreements with respect to its products whereby it grants another party certain rights to market or otherwise promote one or more of its products. Typically, the Company will enter into this type of co-promotion arrangement when a particular product is not aligned with its product focus or it lacks sufficient sales force representation in a particular geographic area. Co-promotion revenue is included in net revenues. Expense from co-promotion agreements is included in cost of product sales.

Table Of Contents

As previously reported, in December 2010, we entered into a joint venture (JV) with infirst+ (formerly SEEK) for the development of BC 1036. On May 14, 2012, the Company acquired the exclusive rights from SEEK, its former joint venture partner, to commercialize and market products utilizing the joint venture's intellectual property (IP) in the areas of cough, cold, sinus and allergy in the United States and Canada. Effective August 30, 2013, we re-licensed all of our rights to these assets in the United States and licensed the Dr. Cocoa trademark and logo to infirst+ in exchange for a royalty of 5% of net sales in the United States through 2019 and 2.5% of net sales in the United States and Canada from 2020 through 2029. Through our subsidiary, Pernix Manufacturing, we are currently working with infirst+ on a supply agreement to supply certain of infirst+'s manufactured product in the United States. As a result of this transaction, we no longer have any rights to a royalty for products utilizing the IP outside of the United States and Canada.

In September 2013, the Company amended the terms of our co-promotion agreement with ParaPRO. ParaPRO will assume responsibility for distribution of NATROBA and related activities, and the Company and its subsidiaries will no longer purchase quantities of NATROBA at a discount for sale to customers. The Company will continue to provide promotion services for NATROBA in its assigned territories for co-promotion fees based on prescriptions generated by its sales force. With respect to generic products covered by the agreement, the Company will continue to provide distribution and co-promotion services for fees based on units distributed and prescriptions dispensed in defined territories. The Company's management expects the Company's gross product sales for NATROBA to decrease based on the removal of the distribution-related revenue from the terms of the co-promotion arrangement. However, the Company's management expects that the corresponding decreases in cost of goods and gross-to-net deductions and other distribution costs will substantially offset this decrease in gross product sales.

Cost of Product Sales

Cost of product sales is comprised of (1) costs to manufacture or acquire products sold to customers; (2) royalty, co-promotion and other revenue sharing payments under license and other agreements granting the Company rights to sell related products; (3) direct and indirect distribution costs incurred in the sale of products; and (4) the value of any write-offs of obsolete or damaged inventory that cannot be sold. The Company acquired the rights to sell certain of its commercial products through license and assignment agreements with the original developers or other parties with interests in these products. These agreements obligate the Company to make payments under varying payment structures based on our net revenue from related products.

As part of the acquisitions of Cypress and Somaxon, the Company adjusted the predecessor cost basis increasing inventory to fair value as required by ASC 820. As a result, \$8,600,000 and \$695,000, respectively, was recorded to adjust inventory to fair value. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013, approximately \$412,000 and \$5,123,000, respectively, of the increase in the basis of the inventory was included in cost of product sales.

Net Revenues

Product Sales

The Company recognizes revenue from its product sales in accordance with its revenue recognition policy discussed above. The Company sells its products primarily to large national wholesalers, which have the right to return the products they purchase, and accordingly the Company estimates the amount of future returns at the time of revenue recognition. The Company recognizes product sales net of estimated allowances for product returns, government program rebates, price adjustments, and prompt pay discounts.

Product Returns

Consistent with industry practice, the Company offers contractual return rights that allow its customers to return short-dated or expiring products within an 18-month period, commencing from six months prior to and up to twelve months subsequent to the product expiration date. The Company's products have a 15 to 36-month expiration period from the date of manufacture. The Company adjusts its estimate of product returns if it becomes aware of other factors that it believes could significantly impact its expected returns. These factors include its estimate of inventory levels of its products in the distribution channel, the shelf life of the product shipped, review of consumer consumption data as reported by external information management companies, actual and historical return rates for expired lots, the forecast of future sales of the product, competitive issues such as new product entrants and other known changes in sales trends. The Company estimates returns at percentages up to 10% of sales of branded and generic products and, from time to time, higher return percentages on new product launches. Returns estimates are based upon historical data and other facts and circumstances that may impact future expected returns to derive an average return percentage for our products. The returns reserve may be further adjusted as sales history and returns experience is accumulated on our portfolio of products or as our portfolio of products changes. The Company reviews and adjusts these reserves quarterly. There is a time lag between the date we determine the estimated allowance and when we receive product returns and issue credits to customers. Changes in facts and circumstances arising during this interval may result in adjustments to our estimated allowance being recorded over several periods, which would impact our operating results in those periods.

Table Of Contents

Government Program Rebates

The liability for Medicaid, Medicare and other government program rebates is estimated based on historical and current rebate redemption and utilization rates contractually submitted by each state's program administrator and assumptions regarding future government program utilization for each product sold.

Price Adjustments

The Company's estimates of price adjustments, which include customer rebates, managed care rebates, service fees, chargebacks, shelf stock adjustments, coupon redemptions and other fees and discounts, are based on our estimated mix of sales to various third-party payors who are entitled, either contractually or statutorily, to discounts from the listed prices of our products and contracted service fees with our wholesalers. In the event that the sales mix to third-party payors or the contract fees paid to the wholesalers are different from the Company's estimates, the Company may be required to pay higher or lower total price adjustments and/or incur chargebacks that differ from its original estimates and such difference may be significant.

The Company's estimates of discounts are applied pursuant to the contracts negotiated with certain customers and are primarily based on sales volumes. The Company, from time to time, offers certain promotional product-related incentives to its customers. These programs include sample cards to retail consumers, certain product incentives to pharmacy customers and other sales stocking allowances. For example, the Company has initiated coupon programs for certain of its promoted products whereby the Company offers a point-of-sale subsidy to retail consumers. The Company estimates its liabilities for these coupon programs based on redemption information provided by a third party claims processing organization. The Company accounts for the coupon redemption costs of these special promotional programs as price adjustments, resulting in a reduction in gross revenue. The administrative fees related to these programs are accounted for in selling, general and administrative expenses.

Any price adjustments that are not contractual or are non-recurring but that are offered at the time of sale or when a specific triggering event occurs, such as sales stocking allowances or price protection adjustments, are recorded as a reduction in revenue when the sales order is recorded or when the triggering event occurs. These allowances may be offered at varying times throughout the year or may be associated with specific events such as a new product launch, the reintroduction of a product or product price changes.

Prompt Payment Discount

The Company typically requires its customers to remit payments within the first 30 days for branded products and within 60 to 120 days for generics, depending on the customer and the products purchased. The Company offers wholesale distributors a prompt payment discount if they make payments within these deadlines. This discount is generally 2-3%, but may be higher in some instances due to product launches and/or industry expectations. Because the Company's wholesale customers typically take the prompt pay discount, we accrue 100% of prompt pay discounts. These discounts are based on the gross amount of each invoice at the time of our original sale to them. Earned discounts are applied at the time of payment. This allowance is recorded as a reduction of accounts receivable.

Segment Information

The Company currently markets two major product lines: a branded pharmaceuticals product line and a generic pharmaceuticals product line. These product lines qualify for reporting as a single segment in accordance with GAAP because they are similar in the nature of the products and services, production processes, types of customers, distribution methods and regulatory environment. The Company has a manufacturing subsidiary but the majority of its revenue is currently generated through intercompany sales and is eliminated in consolidation. Accordingly, it is

deemed immaterial for segment reporting purposes. The Company initiated an OTC division in 2012 but this division has not marketed any products to date and, therefore, has no revenue and is currently deemed immaterial for segment reporting purposes.

Earnings per Share

Earnings per common share is presented under two formats: basic earnings per common share and diluted earnings per common share. Basic earnings per common share is computed by dividing net income attributable to common shareholders by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per common share is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period, plus the potentially dilutive impact of restricted stock and common stock equivalents (i.e. stock options). Dilutive common share equivalents consist of the incremental common shares issuable upon exercise of stock options and vesting of restricted stock.

Table Of Contents

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net income per share:

	Three Mon Septem		Nine mon Septem	
	2013	2012	2013	2012
Numerator:				
Net loss	\$(6,048,954)	\$(270,342)	\$(20,064,702)	\$ (10,911)
Denominator:				
Weighted-average common shares, basic	37,120,890	29,069,119	36,204,340	27,765,275
Dilutive effect of stock options				
Weighted-average common shares, diluted	37,120,890	29,069,119	36,204,340	27,765,275
Net loss per share, basic and diluted	\$(0.16)	\$(0.01)	\$(0.55)	\$

At September 30, 2013, the Company had 662,788 shares of unvested restricted stock and 1,647,333 total outstanding options of which 837,994 are vested and exercisable. Options and restricted stock not included above are anti-dilutive. See Note 15, Employee Compensation and Benefits, for information regarding the Company's outstanding options.

Investments in Marketable Securities and Other Comprehensive Income

The Company held investments in marketable equity securities as available-for-sale and the change in the market value gives rise to other comprehensive income. The components of other comprehensive income are recorded in the condensed consolidated statements of comprehensive income, net of the related income tax effect. As of September 30, 2013, the Company has liquidated its investments in marketable equity securities as described below.

On October 5, 2011, the Company acquired 2.6 million shares of TherapeuticsMD for a purchase price of \$1.0 million, or \$0.38 per share, representing approximately 3.2% of TherapeuticsMD's outstanding common stock at that time. The Company's purchase was contingent upon TherapeuticsMD's acquisition of VitaMedMD, which occurred on October 4, 2011. In connection with the Company's purchase of shares of TherapeuticsMD, the Company also entered into a software license agreement with VitaMedMD pursuant to which VitaMedMD granted the Company an exclusive license to use certain of its physician, patient and product data gathering software in the field of pediatric medicine for a period of five years for a monthly fee of \$21,700. As of September 30, 2013, the Company has not activated this software license agreement and has not paid monthly fees pursuant thereto. Cooper Collins, the Company's then Chief Executive Officer, was appointed to the board of Therapeutics MD on February 29, 2012.

On June 14, 2013, the Company sold all its shares of TherapeuticsMD for approximately \$4,605,000 in cash proceeds, recognizing a gain on the investment of approximately \$3,605,000. Approximately \$2,300,000 of the proceeds were utilized to pay down its term loan (See Note 12, Debt).

Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications have been made to prior period amounts in our consolidated statements of comprehensive (loss) income to conform to the current period presentation. These reclassifications related to the classification of the cost of samples as a selling expense instead of being included in cost of product sales and the classification of coupon processing and program administrative fees as selling expense instead of being included in net sales. These reclassifications had no effect on net loss as previously reported.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In July 2013, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued a clarification regarding the presentation of an unrecognized tax benefit related to a net operating loss carryforward, a similar tax loss, or a tax credit carryforward. Under this new standard, the liability related to an unrecognized tax benefit, or a portion thereof, should be presented in the financial statements as a reduction to a deferred tax asset if available under the tax law of the applicable jurisdiction to settle any additional income taxes that would result from the disallowance of a tax position. Otherwise, the unrecognized tax benefit should be presented in the financial statements as a separate liability. The assessment is based on the unrecognized tax benefit and deferred tax asset that exist at the reporting date. The provisions of the new standard are effective on a prospective basis beginning in 2014 for annual and interim reporting periods. Early adoption is permitted. While we are still determining the impact of this standard on the presentation of both our deferred tax assets and income taxes payable, implementation of the standard will have no impact on our consolidated statements of operations.

There have been no other recent accounting pronouncements that have not yet been adopted by us that are expected to have a material impact on our condensed consolidated financial statements from the accounting pronouncements previously disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012.

Table Of Contents

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The Company's operations have been financed primarily through revenue from sales of its marketed products, the sale of equity securities, its credit facilities, the proceeds from its sale of assets to Breckinridge and the proceeds from the exercise of warrants and stock options. The Company has incurred losses from operations and negative operating cash flows since June 2012. Moving forward, the Company faces the potential for significant cash outflows in the near term based on the contingent consideration and put rights related to our acquisition of Cypress. The Company has initiated the indemnity claim process with the Cypress selling stockholders to obtain financial relief under the original securities purchase agreement which may offset or reduce the amounts of contingent liabilities the Company faces relating to the Cypress acquisition. The Company believes that its claims are well-supported. In the event that the Company is unsuccessful in obtaining a satisfactory outcome with respect to such claims, including any future related litigation that may be undertaken, the Company may be unable to meet certain contingent obligations relating to this matter and the Company's liquidity may be impaired.

With respect to the Company's operating obligations that are not related to the Cypress acquisition, the Company intends to rely upon its cash on hand and accounts receivable generated through sales of its products (including those generated during the cold and flu season, when sales of the Company's cough and cold products have historically trended upward), as well as potential continued cost reductions in its business. However, based on our recurring losses, negative cash flows from operations, financial obligations and working capital levels, the Company may need to raise additional funds to finance its operations. If the Company is unable to maintain sufficient financial resources, including by raising additional funds when needed, the Company's business, financial condition and results of operations will be materially and adversely affected.

The Company intends to obtain any additional funding it may require through public or private equity or debt financings, strategic relationships, including the divestiture of non-core assets, assigning receivables, milestone payments or royalty rights, or other arrangements and the Company cannot assure such funding will be available on reasonable terms, or at all. Additional equity financing will be dilutive to stockholders, and debt financing, if available, may involve restrictive covenants. Any exploration of strategic alternatives may not result in an agreement or transaction and, if completed, any agreement or transaction may not be successful or on attractive terms. The inability to enter into a strategic transaction, or a strategic transaction that is not successful or on attractive terms, could accelerate our need for cash and make securing funding on reasonable terms more difficult. In addition, if the Company raises additional funds through collaborations or other strategic transactions, it may be necessary to relinquish potentially valuable rights to its potential products or proprietary technologies, or grant licenses on terms that are not favorable to the Company.

The Company has an effective shelf registration statement on Form S-3 filed with the SEC under which it may offer from time to time any combination of debt securities, common and preferred stock and warrants. However, the rules and regulations of the SEC or other regulatory agencies may restrict its ability to conduct certain types of financing activities, or may affect the timing of and the amounts it can raise by undertaking such activities. For example, under current SEC regulations, because the aggregate market value of our common stock held by non-affiliates ("public float") is less than \$75 million, the amount that it can raise through primary public offerings of securities in any twelve-month period using one or more registration statements on Form S-3 is limited to an aggregate of one-third of our public float.

If our efforts in raising additional funds when needed are unsuccessful, the Company may be required to delay, scale-back or eliminate plans or programs relating to our business, relinquish some or all rights to our products or renegotiate less favorable terms with respect to such rights than it would otherwise choose or cease operating as a going concern. In addition, if the Company does not meet its payment obligations to third parties as they come due, the Company may be subject to litigation claims. Even if the Company were successful in defending against these

potential claims, litigation could result in substantial costs and be a distraction to management, and may result in unfavorable results that could further adversely impact our financial condition.

If the Company is unable to continue as a going concern, the Company may have to liquidate its assets and may receive less than the value at which those assets are carried on its financial statements, and it is likely that investors will lose all or a part of their investments. These financial statements do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty.

Note 3. Fair Value Measurement

The following tables summarize the Company's fair value hierarchy for its financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring and nonrecurring basis as of September 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012 (in thousands):

	September 30, 2013				
	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total	
Liabilities					
Contingent consideration(1)	\$	\$	\$ 10,662	\$ 10,662	
Put right(2)			9,482	9,482	
Total Liabilities	\$	\$	\$ 20,144	\$ 20,144	
11					

Table Of Contents

	December 31, 2012				
	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total	
Assets					
Investments in TherapeuticsMD	\$	\$	\$ 5,711	\$ 5,711	
Total Assets	\$	\$	\$ 5,711	\$ 5,711	
Liabilities					
Contingent consideration(1)	\$	\$	\$ 10,962	\$ 10,962	
Put right(2)			3,365	3,365	
Total Liabilities	\$	\$	\$ 14,327	\$ 14,327	

- (1) Contingent consideration consists of certain holdback payments, contingent cash and equity payments and future cash to be placed in escrow with respect to our acquisition of Cypress. The fair value of the contingent consideration is included in other liabilities on the accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheets. The fair value of contingent consideration has been estimated using probability weighted discounted cash flow models (DCF). The DCF incorporates Level 3 inputs including estimated discount rates that the Company believes market participants would consider relevant in pricing and the projected timing and amount of cash flows, which are estimated and developed, in part, based on the requirements specific to the Cypress acquisition agreement. The Company analyzes and evaluates these fair value measurements quarterly to determine whether valuation inputs continue to be relevant and appropriate or whether current period developments warrant adjustments to valuation inputs and related measurements. Any increases or decreases in discount rates would have an inverse impact on the value of related fair value measurements, while increases or decreases in expected cash flows would result in a corresponding increase or decrease in fair value measurements.
- (2) The fair value of the put right is included in other current liabilities. The fair value of the put right was \$9.5 million as of September 30, 2013, calculated using a Black-Scholes valuation model with assumptions for the following variables: term, closing Pernix stock price on the acquisition date, risk-free interest rates and expected volatility, with the volatility factor being the input subject to the most variation. Therefore, as pertaining to the put right, the Company is exposed to market risk in regards to the rate and magnitude of change of our stock price and corresponding variations to the volatility factor used in the Black-Scholes valuation model. We evaluated this risk by estimating the potential adverse impact of a 10% increase in the volatility factor and determined that such a change in the volatility factor would have resulted in an approximately \$16,000 increase to the put right liability and a corresponding reduction to pre-tax income (loss) for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013. See Note 6, Derivative Instruments.

For the Company's assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3), the following table provides a reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances for each category therein, and gains or losses recognized during the nine months ended September 30, 2013.

Fair Value Measurements Using Significant Unobservable Inputs (Level 3)

	Investment
	in
	Therapeutics
Assets:	MD
Beginning balance at January 1, 2013	\$ 5,710,526
Net realized and unrealized gains (losses)	
Included in earnings (in other income)	3,605,263
Included in accumulated other comprehensive income (pre-tax) (1)	(4,710,526)
Sale of Investment in TherapeuticsMD	(4,605,263)

Ending balance at September 30, 2013

\$

	Contingent
	Liability
Liabilities:	Consideration
Beginning balance at January 1, 2013	\$ 14,327,680
Interest accretion of Cypress contingent consideration	505,000
Change in fair value of Cypress contingent consideration	(805,000))
Change in fair value of Cypress put right	6,116,489
Ending balance at September 30, 2013	\$ 20,144,169

(1) Recorded as a component of other comprehensive income within stockholders' equity, net of tax.

Table Of Contents

The Company believes the carrying amount of its debt, contracts payable, and capital lease obligations are a reasonable estimate of their fair value due to the remaining maturity of these items and/or their fluctuating interest rates.

Note 4. Business Combinations and Other Acquisitions

Consideration paid by the Company for the businesses it purchases is allocated to the assets and liabilities acquired based upon their estimated fair values as of the date of the acquisition. The excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed is recorded as goodwill.

Somaxon Acquisition

On March 6, 2013, Pernix completed an acquisition of Somaxon pursuant to an agreement and plan of merger dated December 10, 2012. As a result of the transaction, each outstanding share of Somaxon common stock was converted into the right to receive 0.477 shares of Pernix common stock. Somaxon stockholders received approximately 3.66 million shares of Pernix common stock which was calculated based on a value weighted average price of Pernix stock and a common stock value consideration of \$25 million. Upon completion of the merger all unexercised and unexpired warrants to purchase Somaxon common stock were assumed by Pernix and were estimated to have a fair value of \$0.9 million at the closing date.

The Somaxon acquisition broadened the Company's product portfolio and provides the opportunity for OTC development of Silenor, a non-controlled substance approved for the treatment of insomnia characterized by difficulty with sleep maintenance.

The Somaxon acquisition was accounted for as a business combination in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") No. 805 "Business Combinations" ("ASC 805") which, among other things, requires assets acquired and liabilities assumed to be measured at their acquisition date fair values. The purchase price allocation is preliminary with respect to taxes and certain accruals and includes the use of estimates based on information currently available. The Company believes the estimates used are reasonable and the significant effects of the Somaxon acquisition are properly reflected. However, the estimates are subject to change as additional information becomes available and is assessed by the Company. During the three months ended September 30, 2013, the Company made adjustments to recognize previously unrecorded liabilities of approximately \$0.6 million. During the nine months ended September 30, 2013, the Company made adjustments to increase intangible asset values by \$0.3 million and to recognize previously unrecorded liabilities of approximately \$1.7 million. Additional changes to the purchase price allocation may result in a corresponding change to the goodwill in the period of change.

The following table summarizes the consideration paid to acquire Somaxon and the estimated values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in the accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated balance sheet based on their fair values on March 6, 2013 (in thousands, except stock price):

Consideration (ii):	March 6, 2013 (as initially reported)	Measurement Period Adjustment (i)	March 6, 2013 (As adjusted)
Shares of Pernix common stock issued to Somaxon' stockholders	3,665		3,665
Pernix common stock price	\$6.26	\$	\$6.26
Fair value of common stock issued	\$22,945	\$	\$22,945
Fair value of warrants (iii)	895		895

Edgar Filing: PERNIX THERAPEUTICS HOLDINGS, INC. - Form 10-Q

Total consideration	\$23,840	\$	\$23,840
Estimated Fair Value of Liabilities Assumed:			
Current liabilities	\$8,764	\$ 1,607	\$10,371
Long-term liabilities	3,403		3,403
Long-term deferred tax liability (iv)	11,342	111	11,453
Amount attributable to liabilities assumed	\$23,509	\$ 1,718	\$25,227
Total purchase price plus liabilities assumed	\$47,349	\$ 1,718	\$49,067
Estimated Fair Value of Assets Acquired:			
Current assets, excluding inventory	\$4,782	\$	\$4,782
Inventory (v)	1,090		1,090
Intangible assets (vi)	30,729	300	31,029
Amount attributable to assets acquired	\$36,601	\$ 300	\$36,901
Goodwill (vii)	\$10,748	\$ 1,418	\$12,166
13			

Table Of Contents

- (i) After the March 31, 2013 condensed consolidated financial statements were filed, the Company updated certain estimates used in the purchase price allocation, primarily with respect to fair value of the consideration, deferred tax amounts and other accruals due to more current information. The adjustments are based on updated assumptions and information related to facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date as well as confirmatory information related to accruals.
- (ii) Under the terms of the merger agreement, consideration paid by Pernix consisted of approximately 0.477 shares of Pernix common stock for each share of Somaxon common stock and assumption of Somaxon's warrants. The fair value of the total purchase price was based upon the price of Pernix common stock on the day immediately prior to the closing date of the transaction, March 6, 2013. The Company issued a total of 3.66 million shares of its common stock to former Somaxon stockholders in exchange for their shares of Somaxon common stock and assumed approximately 469,000 outstanding warrants.
- (iii) The \$0.9 million fair value of the assumed warrants was calculated using a Black-Scholes valuation model with assumptions for the following variables: price of Pernix stock on the closing date of the merger; risk-free interest rates; and expected volatility. The assumed warrants have been classified as equity.
- (iv) The Company received carryover tax basis in Somaxon's assets and liabilities because the acquisition was not a taxable transaction under the United States Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. Based upon the preliminary purchase price allocation, an increase in financial reporting carrying value related to the intangible assets and the inventory acquired from Somaxon is expected to result in a deferred tax liability of approximately \$11.3 million (subsequently increased by \$.1 million to \$11.4 million).
- (v) As of the effective date of the acquisition, inventories are required to be measured at fair value. The estimated increase is preliminary and could vary materially from the actual values; the fair value of inventory was estimated based on estimated percentage of completion of work-in-progress inventory and selling costs left to incur.
- (vi) As of the effective date of the Somaxon acquisition, identifiable intangible assets are required to be measured at fair value and these acquired assets could include assets that are not intended to be used or sold or that are intended to be used in a manner other than their highest and best use. For purposes of the valuation, it is assumed that all assets will be used and that all assets will be used in a manner that represents the highest and best use of those assets, but it is not assumed that any market participant synergies will be achieved. The consideration of synergies has been excluded because they are not considered to be factually supportable.

The fair value of identifiable intangible assets is determined primarily using the income method, which starts with a forecast of all the expected future net cash flows. Some of the more significant assumptions inherent in the development of intangible asset values, from the perspective of a market participant, include: the amount and timing of projected future cash flows (including revenue, cost of sales, research and development costs, sales and marketing expenses, capital expenditures and working capital requirements) as well as estimated contributory asset charges; the discount rate selected to measure the risks inherent in the future cash flows; and the assessment of the asset's life cycle and the competitive trends impacting the asset, among other factors.

The consolidated financial statements include estimated identifiable intangible assets representing in-process research and development, or IPR&D, intangibles valued at \$22.3 million and core technology intangibles valued at \$7.7 million. The IPR&D are considered indefinite-lived intangible assets until the completion or abandonment of the associated research and development efforts. Accordingly, during the development period, these assets are not amortized but are subject to impairment review. The core technology intangible assets represent developed technology of products approved for sale in the market, which we refer to as marketed products, and have finite useful lives. They are amortized on a straight line basis over a weighted average period of 4 years.

(vii) Goodwill is calculated as the difference between the acquisition date fair value of the consideration transferred and the values assigned to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed. Goodwill is not amortized but tested for impairment on an annual basis or when indications of impairment exist. Goodwill is not deductible for tax purposes. Goodwill specifically includes the expected synergies and other benefits that the Company believes will result from combining its operations with those of Somaxon and other intangible assets that do not qualify for separate recognition, such as assembled workforce in place at the date of acquisition.

Table Of Contents

Cypress Acquisition

On December 31, 2012, the Company completed the acquisition of Cypress by purchasing all the outstanding capital stock of Cypress from the former stockholders of Cypress. The Company paid \$52.0 million in cash and issued 4,427,084 shares of the Company's common stock with a market value equal to approximately \$34.3 million based on the closing price per share of \$7.75 as reported on the NYSE MKT LLC on December 31, 2012. In addition, the Company agreed to pay a holdback payment up to \$5.5 million on December 15, 2013, a \$1.0 million payment contingent on Cypress' 2013 gross sales, \$4.5 million to be deposited in escrow on December 15, 2013 and \$5.0 million in shares of Company's common stock upon the occurrence of a milestone event, for an aggregate purchase price up to \$102.3 million, with a fair value, including the value of the put right (see Note 1), of approximately \$100.6 million.

The Cypress acquisition significantly increased and broadened the Company's branded and generic product portfolio and provided the Company with in-house product development and regulatory expertise. Since 2008, Cypress has been awarded nine ANDA and three NDA approvals (REZIRA, ZUTRIPRO and VITUZ) and prior to the sale to Breckenridge, the Company had nine ANDAs on file with the FDA for future approvals. Currently, Cypress has one ANDA on file with the FDA for future approval. See Note 5, Disposition of Certain Cypress Assets, for discussion of the sale of certain of the generic assets and ANDAs which were acquired in the Cypress acquisition.

The Cypress acquisition was accounted for as a business combination in accordance with ASC No. 805 "Business Combinations" ("ASC 805") which, among other things, requires assets acquired and liabilities assumed to be measured at their acquisition date fair values.

A preliminary allocation of the purchase price as of December 31, 2012 was prepared in connection with the Company's annual financial statements filed on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2012. Concurrent with the sale of the Cypress assets to Breckenridge (see Note 1) in September 2013, the Company obtained an updated valuation summary of the purchase consideration which was compared to the preliminary fair value estimates that were used to prepare the initial purchase price allocation. With the information, the Company updated the assets acquired, as well as certain other estimates used in the initial purchase price allocation related to deferred tax amounts and other accruals based on the updated valuation. That allocation is still preliminary with respect to final tax amounts, pending completion of the 2013 Cypress tax return and certain accruals and includes the use of estimates based on information that was available to management at the time these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements were prepared. The Company believes the estimates used are reasonable and the significant effects of the acquisition are properly reflected. However, the estimates are subject to change as additional information becomes available and is assessed by the Company. Additional changes to the purchase price allocation may result in a corresponding change to the goodwill in the period of change. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013, approximately \$541,000 and \$4,498,000, respectively, in re-measurement adjustments were made, primarily with respect to fair value of the consideration, deferred tax amounts and other accruals due to more current information. The adjustments are based on updated assumptions and information related to facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date as well as confirmatory information related to accruals.

See Note 5, Disposition of Certain Cypress Assets, for more information regarding the sale of certain intangibles assets.

Pro Forma Impact of Acquisitions (Unaudited)

The following unaudited pro forma combined results of operations are provided for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012 as though the Somaxon and the Cypress acquisitions had been completed as of January 1, 2012. The pro forma combined results of operations for the three and nine months ended September 30,

2013 have been prepared by adjusting historical results of the Company to include the historical results of Somaxon and the pro forma combined results of operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2012 have been prepared by adjusting the historical results of the Company to include the historical results of Somaxon and Cypress. These supplemental pro forma results of operations are provided for illustrative purposes only and do not purport to be indicative of the actual results that would have been achieved by the combined company for the periods presented or that may be achieved by the combined company in the future. The pro forma results of operations do not include any cost savings or other synergies that resulted, or may result, from the Somaxon and Cypress acquisitions or any estimated costs that will be incurred to integrate Somaxon and Cypress. Future results may vary significantly from the results reflected in this pro forma financial information because of future events and transactions, as well as other factors.

	T	Three Months ended			Nine Months ended			
		September 30,			September 30,			
	(una	(unaudited, in thousands)			(unaudited, in thousands)			
	,	2013 2012			2013 20		2012	
	(Pro	o forma)	(Pro forma)	(P	ro forma)	(P	ro forma)	
Revenue	\$	18,295	\$ 30,436	\$	62,675	\$	85,393	
Net loss	\$	(6,049)	\$ (5,972	2) \$	(22,282)	\$	(13,490)	
Pro forma net income (loss) per common share								
Basic	\$	(0.16)	\$ (0.16	5) \$	(0.62)	\$	(0.38)	
Diluted	\$	(0.16)	\$ (0.16	5) \$	(0.62)	\$	(0.38)	

Table Of Contents

The Company's historical financial information was adjusted to give effect to the pro forma events that were directly attributable to the Somaxon and the Cypress acquisitions and factually supportable. The unaudited pro forma consolidated results include the historical revenues and expenses of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in the acquisitions with the following adjustments:

Adjustment to recognize incremental amortization expense based on the fair value of intangibles acquired; Eliminate historical interest expense for Cypress debt that was extinguished;

Adjustment to recognize interest expense for debt issued in connection with the Cypress transaction; Eliminate transaction costs and non-recurring charges directly related to the Somaxon acquisition that were included in the historical results of operations for Pernix and Somaxon;

Adjustment to recognize pro forma income tax based on 28.3% rate;

Adjustment to recognize the issuance of 4.4 million shares of the Company's common stock as consideration for the Cypress acquisition; and

Adjustment to recognize the issuance of 3.6 million shares of the Company's common stock as consideration for the Somaxon acquisition.

For the three months and nine months ended September 30, 2013, the Company recognized net revenue for Somaxon subsequent to the closing on March 6, 2013 in the amount of \$1.6 million and \$5.1 million, respectively. Non-recurring transaction costs of \$3.2 million related to the Somaxon acquisition for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 are included in the consolidated statement of operations in selling, general and administrative expenses. These non-recurring transaction costs have been excluded from the pro forma results in the above table.

Acquisition of GSL

On July 2, 2012, the Company acquired the business assets of Great Southern Laboratories, or GSL, a pharmaceutical contract manufacturing company located in Houston, Texas. The Company closed on the related real estate on August 30, 2012. Upon the final closing, the Company paid an aggregate of approximately \$4.9 million (including \$300,000 deposited to an escrow that was subsequently refunded to the Company as payment for unrecorded liabilities), and assumed certain liabilities totaling approximately \$5.9 million for substantially all of GSL's assets including the land and buildings in which GSL operates. GSL has an established manufacturing facility for the pharmaceutical industry, which was expected to provide the Company with potential cost savings going forward. The Company acquired the GSL assets through a wholly-owned subsidiary, Pernix Manufacturing, LLC. The results of operations of Pernix Manufacturing have been included in the Company's consolidated financial statements since the acquisition date.

The GSL Acquisition was accounted for as a business combination in accordance with ASC No. 805 "Business Combinations" ("ASC 805") which, among other things, requires assets acquired and liabilities assumed to be measured at their acquisition date fair values. The purchase price allocation was preliminary and was based on estimates of fair values at the date of the acquisition. The Company evaluated the preliminary purchase price allocation, which was adjusted as additional information relative to the fair value of assets and liabilities became available.

Pro forma combined results of operations for the three months and nine months ended September 30, 2012 as though the GSL acquisition had been completed as of January 31, 2012 are omitted from this quarterly report on Form 10-Q. The Company determined that it is impractical to include such pro forma information given the immateriality of the transaction and the difficulty in obtaining the historical financial information of GSL. Inclusion of such information would require the Company to make estimates and assumptions regarding GSL's historical financial results that we believe may ultimately prove inaccurate.

Note 5. Disposition of Certain Cypress Assets

As discussed in Note 1, on September 11, 2013, the Company completed the sale of certain of its generic assets held by Cypress to Breckenridge pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, as amended. The assets included seven previously marketed products, eight Abbreviated New Drug Applications (ANDAs) filed at the FDA, and certain other ANDAs in various stages of development and the transfer of \$1.0 million in inventory.

Breckenridge paid the Company \$2,000,000 in cash upon execution of the Purchase Agreement, \$17,850,000, before customary closing costs of approximately \$173,000, in cash at Closing, and issued two promissory notes, each in an amount of \$4,850,000, with one due on the first anniversary after Closing and the other due on the second anniversary after Closing, for an aggregate purchase price of up to \$29,550,000.

Table Of Contents

Pro Forma Impact of Disposition of Cypress Assets (Unaudited)

The following unaudited pro forma combined results of operations are provided for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012 as though the disposition had occurred on January 1, 2012.

The unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated statements of operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013 reflect the following pro forma adjustments:

- (1) Eliminates the revenues and cost of goods sold as if the transaction occurred on January 1, 2012.
- (2) Reflects the reduction in amortization resulting from excluding the assets that were sold from intangible assets, net as if the transaction occurred on January 1, 2012.
- (3) Reduces interest expense resulting from applying a portion of the net proceeds as the repayment of the term loan balance outstanding at September 11, 2013 under the Company's Credit Agreement.
 - (4) Reflects an adjustment to income tax expense as a result of the adjustments described above.

The unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated financial information is provided for illustrative purposes only and does not purport to represent what the actual results of operations would have been had the transaction occurred on the respective date assumed, nor is it necessarily indicative of the Company's future operating results. However, the pro forma adjustments reflected in the accompanying unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated financial information reflect estimates and assumptions that the Company's management believes to be reasonable.

Pro forma adjustments related to the unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated statements of operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013 were computed assuming the transaction was consummated on January 1, 2012 and include adjustments which give effect to events that are (i) directly attributable to the transaction, (ii) expected to have a continuing impact on the Company, and (iii) factually supportable.

	Three Months ended				Nine Months ended			
	September 30,				September 30,			30,
	(unaudited, in thousands)				(unaudited, in thousands)			
	2013 2012			2013		2012		
	(Pr	o forma)	(Pr	o forma)	(P	ro forma)	(P	ro forma)
Revenue	\$	17,400	\$	29,541	\$	56,260	\$	79,785
Net loss	\$	(5,886)	\$	(6,011)	\$	(21,036)	\$	(15,282)
Pro forma net income (loss) per common share								
Basic	\$	(0.16)	\$	(0.17)	\$	(0.58)	\$	(0.43)
Diluted	\$	(0.16)	\$	(0.17)	\$	(0.58)	\$	(0.43)

Note 6. Derivative Instruments

In connection with the acquisition of Cypress effective December 31, 2012, the Company issued a put right to Cypress' former shareholders. The put right, which expires on January 31, 2014, is exercisable during the thirty-day period immediately following the one-year anniversary date of the business acquisition, which if exercised would enable them to sell any of the shares they still hold (3,565,692 as of September 30, 2013 from the underlying 4,427,084 shares of the Company's common stock they received as part of the purchase consideration), back to the Company at a price of \$5.38 per share, which represents a 30% discount off of the per-share value established on the effective date of the closing of the acquisition. In accordance with the relevant authoritative accounting literature a portion of the

total purchase consideration was allocated to this put liability based on its initial fair value, which was determined to be \$3.4 million using a Black-Scholes model. The inputs used in the valuation of the put right include term, stock price volatility, current stock price, exercise price, and the risk free rate of return. At September 30, 2013, the fair value of the put right liability was re-measured and was determined to have increased \$2.1 million and \$6.1 million during the three and nine month periods then ended, respectively, with such amounts reflected as a loss included in other non-operating income in the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive (Loss) Income. As of September 30, 2013, the aggregate fair value of this derivative instrument, which is included in current liabilities in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet, was \$9.5 million. The Company has classified the put right, for which the fair value is re-measured on a recurring basis at each reporting date as a Level 3 instrument (i.e. wherein fair value is partially determined and based on unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity), which the Company believes is the most appropriate level within the fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used to determine its fair value at the measurement date.

Table Of Contents

Note 7. Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable consist of the following:

	September 30, 2013	December 31, 2012
Trade accounts receivable	\$ 22,614,182	\$ 35,723,488
Less allowance for prompt pay discounts	(473,625)	(727,714)
Total trade receivables	22,140,557	34,995,774
Receivables from third parties – revenue sharing arrangements	1,683,078	1,690,544
Less allowance for doubtful accounts	(486,931)	(39,231)
Total account receivables	23,336,704	36,647,087

The Company typically requires customers to remit payments within the first 30 days for brand purchases or 60 to 120 days for generic purchases (depending on the customer and the products purchased). The Company offers wholesale distributors a prompt payment discount, which is typically 2-3%, as an incentive to remit payment within these deadlines. Accounts receivable are stated net of the estimated prompt pay discount. The Company's management evaluates accounts receivable to determine if a provision for an allowance for doubtful accounts is appropriate.

Note 8. Inventory

Inventories consist of the following:

	September 30, 2013	December 31, 2012
Raw materials	\$ 2,034,008	\$ 1,550,736
Packaging materials	940,282	866,674
Samples	836,021	792,702
Finished goods	14,208,577	19,860,995
	18,018,888	23,071,107
Reserve for obsolescence	(1,501,556)	(1,056,702)
Inventory, net	\$ 16,517,332	\$ 22,014,405

An increase in the basis of inventory related to the acquisitions of Cypress and Somaxon is included in the balances above as of September 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012. The increase included in raw materials resulted from the Somaxon acquisition and was approximately \$260,000 and \$0 as of September 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively. The increase included in finished goods from the Cypress and Somaxon acquisitions was approximately \$3,690,000, in the aggregate, as of September 30, 2013 and \$8,600,000 from the Cypress acquisition as of December 31, 2012.

Note 9. Intangible Assets and Goodwill

Intangible assets consist of the following:

		September 30,	December 31,
	Life	2013	2012
Patents	12 - 15 years	\$ 1,442,000	\$ 1,442,000
Brand	8 years	3,887,000	3,887,000

Edgar Filing: PERNIX THERAPEUTICS HOLDINGS, INC. - Form 10-Q

Product licenses	1 – 13 years	16,183,794	15,135,050
Customer relationships	6 years	1,848,000	1,848,000
Non-compete and supplier contracts	2 - 7 years	5,194,571	5,194,571
Trademark rights	Indefinite	638,563	638,563
In-process research and development acquired(1)		43,733,000	45,200,000
Developed technology	9-12 years	40,000,000	37,000,000
	·	112,926,928	110,345,184
Accumulated amortization		(12,614,557)	(6,290,753)
Total	\$	100,312,371 \$	104,054,431

⁽¹⁾ Amortization will begin once the related products go into production; if the product in development fails or is abandoned, it will be written off.

Table Of Contents

Estimated amortization expense related to intangible assets with definite lives for each of the five succeeding years and thereafter is as follows:

	Amount
2013 (September – December)	\$ 1,890,713
2014	7,682,420
2015	7,682,420
2016	7,682,420
2017	6,166,374
Thereafter	24,836,462
Total	\$ 55,940,809

Amortization expense is approximately \$2,491,000 and \$6,979,000 for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013 and \$775,000 and \$2,158,000 for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2012, respectively.

Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 and the year ended December 31, 2012 are as follows:

	September	December
	30,	31,
	2013	2012
Beginning Balance	\$37,160,911	\$ 1,406,591
Goodwill acquired – Somaxon	10,748,243	
Goodwill acquired – Cypress		34,838,745
Goodwill acquired – GSL		915,575
Adjustments (1)	5,916,122	
Total	\$53,825,276	\$37,160,911

(1) Primarily reflects the impact of measurement period adjustments related to the Cypress and Somaxon acquisitions composed of a deferred tax asset on the increase in the basis of the acquired inventory, an increase in certain accrued allowances and the impact of the re-evaluation of the opening balance sheet Cypress intangible assets and inventory. See Note 1, Company Overview and Note 5, Disposition of Certain Cypress Assets, for further discussion.

Note 10. Accrued Allowances

Accrued allowances consist of the following:

	September 30,	December 31,	
	2013	2012	
Accrued returns allowance	\$ 10,340,500	\$ 12,057,464	
Accrued price adjustments	5,406,064	10,960,042	
Accrued government program rebates	13,449,753	7,037,045	
Total	\$ 29,196,317	\$ 30,054,551	

Note 11. Other Liabilities

Other liabilities consist of the following:

Edgar Filing: PERNIX THERAPEUTICS HOLDINGS, INC. - Form 10-Q

	September 30, 2013	December 31, 2012
Stock repurchase contract with employee	\$	\$ 600,000
Product license contracts		630,000
Settlement obligations (see Note 17)	3,685,000	
Other	334,454	338,495
Deferred revenue	384,745	
Total contracts payable and other obligations	\$ 4,409,199	\$ 1,568,495
Other liabilities – current	\$ 1,300,793	\$ 1,568,495
Other liabilities – long term	\$ 3,103,406	\$ -

Table Of Contents

Note 12. Debt

Debt consists of the following:

	September 30, 2013	December 31, 2012
Amounts outstanding under the Credit Facility – MidCap Funding V, LLC	\$13,741,968	\$42,000,000
Stancorp Mortgage	1,483,145	1,580,748
Capital leases (see Note 17)	3,665	55,328
Total debt	\$ 15,228,778	\$43,636,076
Debt – current	\$13,883,224	\$ 2,286,513
Debt – long term	\$ 1,345,554	\$41,349,563

Credit Facility - MidCap Funding V, LLC

In connection with the purchase of all of the capital stock of Cypress, the Company, together with its subsidiaries, entered into a Credit and Guaranty Agreement, dated December 31, 2012, with MidCap Funding V, LLC, as administrative agent, a lender and as a co-bookrunner, and Business Development Corporation of America, as co-bookrunner, and additional lenders from time to time party thereto (the "Original Credit Agreement"). The Original Credit Agreement provided for a term credit facility of \$42 million. Subject to certain permitted liens, the obligations under this facility were secured by a first priority perfected security interest in substantially all of the assets of the Company and its subsidiaries. The proceeds from this facility were used to fund a portion of the cash consideration of the acquisition of Cypress.

The Original Credit Agreement was subject to certain financial and nonfinancial covenants that were significantly more onerous than the covenants under our prior facility with Regions, and also contained customary representations and warranties and event of default provisions for a secured credit facility.

The facility bore interest at a rate equal to the sum of the LIBOR rate plus an applicable margin of 6.50% per annum (9.0% at April 30). The Company was required to make quarterly repayments beginning on March 31, 2013 and ending on December 31, 2017, when all remaining principal was due and payable. In addition, the Company was able to voluntarily repay outstanding amounts under the Original Credit Agreement at any time without premium or penalty. On May 8, 2013, the Company, together with its subsidiaries, entered into the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement (the "Restated Credit Agreement") with MidCap Financial, LLC, as Administrative Agent and as a lender, and additional lenders from time to time party thereto. The Restated Credit Agreement amends and restates in its entirety the Original Credit Agreement.

The Restated Credit Agreement provided for a term loan of \$10 million and a revolving loan commitment of \$20 million. In connection with the entry into the Restated Credit Agreement, the Company prepaid approximately \$12 million of the term loan that had been previously outstanding under the Original Credit Agreement. Under the Restated Credit Agreement, the Company's borrowing base on the revolving loan commitment is equal to (A) 85% of eligible accounts, plus (B) 50% of eligible inventory, minus (C) certain reserves and/or adjustments, subject to certain conditions and limitations. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Restated Credit Agreement provided for an advance of up to \$3 million in excess of the Company's borrowing base until June 5, 2013, at which time all excess amounts were paid. Unlike the Original Credit Agreement, the Restated Credit Agreement does not include covenants limiting capital expenditures or requiring the Company to maintain a fixed charge coverage ratio and leverage ratio, but rather contains covenants requiring the Company to maintain a minimum amount of EBITDA and net invoiced revenues.

Similar to the Original Credit Agreement, the Restated Credit Agreement includes customary covenants for a secured credit facility, which include, among other things, (a) restrictions on (i) the incurrence of indebtedness, (ii) the creation of or existence of liens, (iii) the incurrence or existence of contingent obligations, (iv) making certain dividends or other distributions, (v) certain consolidations, mergers or sales of assets and (vi) purchases of assets, investments and acquisitions; and (b) requirements to deliver financial statements, reports and notices to the administrative agent and other lenders. The Restated Credit Agreement also contains customary representations and warranties and event of default provisions for a secured credit facility.

The loans under this facility bear interest at a rate equal to the sum of the LIBOR rate plus an applicable margin of 7.50% per annum. Pursuant to the Restated Credit Agreement, the Company paid certain customary fees to the administrative agent and lenders.

Under the Restated Credit Agreement, we were required to make monthly repayments of \$333,333 on the term loan beginning on November 7, 2013 and ending on May 7, 2016, when all remaining principal is due and payable. Approximately \$2,300,000 of the proceeds from the sale of TherapeuticsMD stock were utilized to pay down the term loan in September 2013. The revolving loan will be paid based on our cash receipts through a lockbox arrangement. In addition, we are able to voluntarily prepay outstanding amounts under the revolving loan commitment at any time, subject to certain prepayment penalties.

Pursuant to the terms of the Restated Credit Agreement, the closing of the sale of certain Cypress assets (see Note 1) triggered a requirement by the Company to repay the term loan included in the Credit Agreement. At the closing, the Company paid approximately \$7.7 million from the sale proceeds to MidCap in fulfillment of this requirement, and as a result, the term loan has been repaid in full. As of September 30, 2013, the outstanding balance under the revolver was approximately \$13.7 million. The Company has approximately \$6.3 million of remaining available funds subject to borrowing base capacity as of September 30, 2013.

Table Of Contents

As with the Original Credit Agreement, the obligations under the Restated Credit Agreement are secured by a first priority perfected security interest in substantially all of the assets of the Company and its subsidiaries, subject to certain permitted liens. The May 2013 amendments described above were treated as a modification of debt under GAAP, and the Company expensed \$630,000 of deferred financing fees and recorded approximately \$23,000 and \$548,000 of new deferred financing fees for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013.

Mortgage

Certain real estate acquired in the acquisition of GSL is encumbered by a mortgage that the Company assumed. The monthly fixed payment under this mortgage, including principal and interest, is approximately \$19,000 until February 1, 2022. This mortgage is included under the caption Debt – short term and Debt – long term on the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets as of September 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012. The outstanding mortgage balance is approximately \$1,483,000 and \$1,581,000 as of September 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively.

Note 13. Temporary Equity

The Company issued 4,427,084 shares of its common stock as consideration to the sellers for the Cypress acquisition. These shares are subject to a put right that provides the sellers of Cypress a cash settlement right. This cash redemption feature is bifurcated from the common stock issued as a consideration and is classified as current liability. Subsequent to the acquisition of Cypress, 861,392 shares that were subject to the put right were sold by former Cypress shareholders on the open market. See Note 6, Derivative Instruments, for further information.

Note 14. Stockholders' Equity

Controlled Equity Offering

On February 10, 2012, the Company entered into a controlled equity offering sales agreement with Cantor Fitzgerald & Co. pursuant to which the Company could issue and sell shares of its common stock having an aggregate offering price of up to \$25,000,000 from time to time through Cantor, acting as agent, but in no event more than 5,000,000 shares of common stock. The Company paid Cantor a commission rate of 3.0% of the gross sales price per share of the common stock sold through Cantor. The Company reimbursed Cantor an amount equal to \$50,000, representing certain expenses incurred by Cantor in connection with entering into the sales agreement and provided Cantor with customary indemnification rights. The Company sold 2,966,739 shares of common stock under this controlled equity program for total net proceeds of approximately \$23.8 million and closed the controlled equity offering on May 1, 2012. The offering was made pursuant to our effective shelf registration statement filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 31, 2011. The Company used the proceeds of this financing to provide funding for acquisitions and general corporate purposes in 2012.

Stock Repurchase Contract with Related Party

On September 10, 2010, Pernix entered into an agreement, pursuant to a stock repurchase authorization from our board of directors on May 12, 2010, to purchase 2,000,000 shares of its common stock from an employee of Pernix at \$1.80 per share. The aggregate purchase price of \$3,600,000 was paid in equal quarterly installments of \$300,000 over three years. The final payment on this agreement was made on April 1, 2013.

Note 15. Employer Compensation and Benefits

The Company participates in a 401(k) plan, which covers substantially all full-time employees. The Plan is funded by employee contributions and discretionary matching contributions determined by management. At the Company's

discretion, it may match up to 100 percent of each employee's contribution, not to exceed the first six percent of the employee's individual salary. There is a six-month waiting period from date of hire to participate in the plan. Employees are 100 percent vested in employee and employer contributions. Contribution expense was approximately \$95,000 and \$349,000 for the three and nine month periods ended September 30, 2013, respectively. Contribution expense was approximately \$86,000 and \$269,000 for the three and nine month periods ended September 30, 2012, respectively.

Stock Options

The Company's 2009 Stock Incentive Plan was approved concurrent with its merger with Golf Trust of America ("GTA"), Inc. on March 9, 2010. The maximum number of shares that can be offered under this plan is 5,000,000. Incentives may be granted under the 2009 Plan to eligible participants in the form of (a) incentive stock options, (b) non-qualified stock options, (c) restricted stock, (d) restricted stock units, (e) stock appreciation rights and (f) other stock-based awards.

Table Of Contents

As of September 30, 2013, approximately 30,000 options remain outstanding that were issued to current officers under former incentive plans of GTA. The remaining average contractual life of these options is approximately 1.4 months.

The Company currently uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model to determine the fair value of its stock options. The determination of the fair value of stock-based payment awards on the date of grant using an option pricing model is affected by the Company's stock price, as well as assumptions regarding a number of complex and subjective variables. These variables include the Company's expected stock price volatility over the term of the awards, actual employee exercise behaviors, risk-free interest rate and expected dividends.

The following table shows the assumptions used to value stock options on the date of grant, as follows:

		Nine
	N	Months
	F	Ended
	Se	ptember
		30,
		2013
Weighted average expected stock price volatility		66.8%
Estimated dividend yield		0.0%
Risk-free interest rate		1.0%
Expected life of option (in years)		6.0
Weighted average fair value per share	\$	4.64

The Company has not paid and does not anticipate paying cash dividends; therefore, the expected dividend rate is assumed to be 0%. The expected stock price volatility for the stock options is based on historical volatility of a representative peer group of comparable companies selected using publicly available industry and market capitalization data. The risk-free rate was based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant commensurate with the expected life assumption. The expected life of the stock options granted was estimated based on the historical exercise patterns over the option lives. The following table shows the option activity, described above, during the nine months ended September 30, 2013:

		Average
		Exercise
Option Shares	Shares	Price
Outstanding at December 31, 2012(1)	1,711,167	\$ 4.87
Granted	295,000	4.07
Exercised	(40,000)	2.79
Cancelled	(318,834)	6.09
Expired		
Outstanding at September 30, 2013	1,647,333	\$ 4.54
Vested and exercisable, end of period	837,994	\$ 4.61

The intrinsic value of options exercised during the nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012 was approximately \$132,000 and \$210,000, respectively.

The weighted-average grant date fair value for options granted during the nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012 was approximately \$4.64 and \$5.33, respectively.

The following table shows the details by range of exercise price for the total options outstanding at September 30, 2013:

	Options O	utstanding	Options 1	Exercisable
Range of		Remaining		
Exercise		Contractual		
Price		Life		Price
(\$)	Shares	(years)	Shares	(\$)
1.94 -				
2.20	5,000	1.4	5,000	\$2.20
3.31 - 4.20(1)	1,278,000	7.5	638,000	3.71
6.10	137,666	7.9	89,994	6.10
7.75 - 8.62	136,667	8.5	58,334	8.13
9.02 –				
10.35	90,000	8.3	46,666	9.82
	1,647,333	7.5	837,994	\$3.75

⁽¹⁾ Includes 460,000 options granted to ParaPRO, LLC on August 3, 2011, that vest over seven years, pursuant to the commercial terms of the co-promotion arrangement between the Company and Para PRO for the marketing and sale of Natroba. For additional information, see Note 17, Commitments and Contingencies.

Table Of Contents

As of September 30, 2013, the aggregate intrinsic value of 837,994 options outstanding and exercisable was approximately \$2,600.

As of September 30, 2013, there was approximately \$568,000 of total unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested stock options issued to employees and directors of the Company, which is expected to be recognized ratably over a weighted-average period of 1.5 years.

Restricted Stock

The following table shows the Company's nonvested restricted stock outstanding at September 30, 2013:

		Wei	ghted
		Ave	erage
		Gran	t Date
Restricted Stock Shares	Shares	Fair	Value
Nonvested at December 31, 2012	728,333	\$	7.47
Granted	357,654		3.42
Vested	(138,332)		7.85
Forfeited	(284,867)		6.46
Nonvested at September 30, 2013	662,788	\$	5.64

Approximately \$2,791,000 of total unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested restricted stock is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.9 years.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

Effective July 22, 2010, the Company adopted the 2010 Employee Stock Purchase Plan to provide substantially all employees an opportunity to purchase shares of its common stock through payroll deduction, up to 10% of eligible compensation with a \$25,000 maximum deferral. Semi-annually (on May 1 and November 1), participant account balances will be used to purchase shares of stock at the lesser of 85 percent of the fair market value of shares at the beginning or end of such six-month period. The Employee Stock Purchase Plan expires on July 22, 2020. A total of 1,000,000 shares are available for purchase under this plan of which 60,159 have been issued. Compensation expense related to the Employee Stock Purchase Plan and included in the table below for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012 was approximately \$59,000 and \$56,000 respectively.

Stock-Based Compensation Expense

The following table shows the approximate amount of total stock-based compensation expense recognized (included in selling, general and administrative expenses) for employees and non-employees:

		Three Months Ended September 30,				Nine Mo				
						Septer	nber 30	,		
		2013		2012		2013		2012		
Employees	\$	401,000	\$	546,000	\$	1,216,000	\$	1,412,000		
Non-employees/Directors		91,000		132,000		300,000		489,000		
Total	\$	492,000	\$	678,000	\$	1,516,000	\$	1,901,000		

Note 16. Income Taxes

The effective income tax rate from continuing operations is different from the federal statutory rate for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012 for the following reasons:

	Nine Months Septembe	
	2013	2012
Expected taxes at statutory rates	(35.0)%	(35.0)%
State taxes, net of federal tax benefit	(1.7)%	(33.2)%
Nondeductible expenses	1.0%	7.6%
Put right expense	7.5%	%
Other	(0.5)%	0.7%
	(28.7)%	(59.9)%
23		

Table Of Contents

Note. 17. Commitments and Contingencies

Legal Proceedings

Somaxon Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Shareholder Litigation (Lead Case No. 37-201200087821-CU-SLCTL)

A purported class action lawsuit was filed in the Superior Court of California County of San Diego by Daniele Riganello, who, prior to the consummation of the merger between Pernix and Somaxon on March 6, 2013 (the "Merger"), was an alleged stockholder of Somaxon (Riganello v. Somaxon, et al., No. 37-201200087821-CU-SLCTL). A second purported class action was also filed in the court by another alleged stockholder (Wasserstrom vs. Somaxon, et al., No. 37-2012-00029214-CU-SL-CTL). The lawsuits were consolidated into a single action captioned In re Somaxon Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Shareholder Litigation (Lead Case No. 37-201200087821-CU-SLCTL). The operative complaint named as defendants Somaxon, Pernix, Pernix Acquisition Corp. I, as well as each of the former members of Somaxon's board of directors (the "Individual Defendants"). It alleged, among other things, that (i) the Individual Defendants breached fiduciary duties they assertedly owed to Somaxon's former stockholders in connection with the Merger (ii) Somaxon and Pernix aided and abetted the purported breaches of fiduciary duty; (iii) the merger consideration was unfair and inadequate; and (iv) the disclosures regarding the Merger in the Registration Statement on Form S-4, initially filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on January 7, 2013 (the "Proxy Statement/Prospectus"), were inadequate.

On January 24, 2013, solely to avoid the costs, risks and uncertainties inherent in litigation and without admitting any liability or wrongdoing, Pernix and the other named defendants in such litigation signed a memorandum of understanding (the "MOU") to settle such litigation. In accordance with the MOU, Pernix made certain additional disclosures related to the Merger in the Proxy Statement/Prospectus and agreed to reimburse the plantiffs for certain legal expenses in the amount of \$185,000, which is accrued in other liabilities. Subject to confirmatory discovery, which was completed in April 2013, and court approval of a definitive stipulation of settlement, which was filed in July 2013, the MOU resolves the claims brought in such litigation and provides a release and settlement by the purported class of Somaxon's former stockholders of all claims against the defendants and their affiliates and agents in connection with the Merger. The asserted claims will not be released until such stipulation of settlement is approved by the court. There can be no assurance that the court will approve such settlement. Additionally, in connection with the proposed settlement, plaintiffs in such litigation intend to seek an award of attorneys' fees and expenses in an amount to be approved or determined by the court.

In addition to the above proceedings, Pernix is subject to various claims and litigation arising in the ordinary course of business. In the opinion of management, the outcome of such matters will not have a material effect on Pernix's financial position or results of operations.

Texas Attorney General Medicaid Investigation

On May 9, 2013, our subsidiary, Cypress Pharmaceuticals, Inc., received notice from the Office of the Attorney General of the State of Texas that it had completed its initial analysis of transaction data provided by Cypress during 2012 to the Attorney General's office and offering to settle all claims that the Attorney General alleges arise from Cypress's prior actions under the Texas Medicaid Fraud Prevention Act. The Company is currently assessing both the legitimacy of the claims made in this offer letter and the legal steps at its disposal to challenge the claims and the potential liability related to those claims. The Company is currently reviewing certain data provided to it by the Attorney General and is currently in discussions with the Attorney General regarding their analysis of the data.

Purchase Commitments

Purchase obligations include fixed or minimum payments under manufacturing and supply agreements with third-party manufacturers and other providers of goods and services. Our failure to satisfy minimum sales requirements under our co-promotion agreements would generally allows the counterparty to terminate the agreement and/or results in a loss of our exclusivity rights. In part to maintain minimum sales requirements under our co-promotion agreements, the Company has commitments under open purchase orders for inventory of approximately \$5.0 million that can be cancelled without penalty.

Stock Options Issued in Exchange for Services

Pursuant to an agreement for support services entered into between the Company and ParaPRO on August 27, 2010 which commenced upon the launch of NATROBA on August 3, 2011, we granted to ParaPRO 460,000 options to purchase our common stock. The options have an exercise price of \$3.65 which was the closing price of the Company's stock as of the date of the support services agreement. The options became or will become exercisable in seven installments in the following amounts: (i) 30,000 on August 1, 2012; (ii) 40,000 on August 1, 2013; (iii) 50,000 on August 1, 2014; (iv) 60,000 on August 1, 2015; (v) 70,000 on August 1, 2016; (vi) 90,000 on August 1, 2017; and (vii) 120,000 on August 1, 2018. The options are exercisable for a period of five years from the date each becomes exercisable and are valued at approximately \$2,841,000. These options were granted in a private offering under Rule 4(2) of the Securities Act of 1933. As of September 30, 2013, there was approximately \$1,412,000 of total unrecognized compensation cost related to unexercisable stock options, which is expected to be recognized ratably over a weighted-average period of 3.7 years.

Table Of Contents

Leases

The Company leases facilities space and equipment under operating lease arrangements that have terms expiring at various dates through 2016. Certain lease arrangements include renewal options and escalation clauses. In addition, various lease agreements to which the Company is a party require that we comply with certain customary covenants throughout the terms of the leases. If we are unable to comply with these covenants and cannot reach a satisfactory resolution in the event of noncompliance, these agreements could terminate.

Future minimum lease payments under non-cancelable operating leases do not include the rent payments for the Woodlands, Texas lease that was terminated effective July 31, 2013. The lease had a remaining term through April 2016, representing a future lease commitment of approximately \$579,000. The minimum payments as of September 30, 2013 are as follows (in thousands):

2013 (July – December)	\$ 193,000
2014	470,000
2015	39,000
2016	3,000
2017	
	\$ 705,000

Total rent expense was approximately \$182,000 and \$567,000 for the three and nine months periods ended September 30, 2013, respectively. Rent expense was approximately \$94,000 and \$269,000 for the three and nine month periods ended September 30, 2012, respectively.

Capital leases on certain pharmaceutical manufacturing equipment assumed in the acquisition of GSL have terms extending to November 2013. There were multiple assets under various individual capital leases as of September 30, 2013.

Milestone Payments

The Company is party to certain license agreements and acquisition agreements, certain of which are described in Note 4, Business Combinations and Other Acquisitions. Generally, these license and acquisition agreements require that the Company make milestone payments in cash upon the achievement of certain product development and/or commercialization goals and payments of royalties upon commercial sales. The amounts and timing of future milestone payments may vary depending on when related milestones will be attained, if at all.

Other Revenue Sharing Agreements

The Company has entered into certain revenue sharing arrangements that require payments based on a specified percentage of net sales or a specified cost per unit sold. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013, the Company recognized approximately \$2,024,000 and \$5,113,000, respectively, in expense included in cost of goods sold from payments pursuant to co-promotion and other revenue sharing arrangements. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2012, the Company recognized \$1,058,000 and \$2,973,000 of such expenses, respectively.

Other Commitments

Somaxon was subject to certain contractual payment obligations pursuant to settlement agreements entered into by it which the Company assumed. As of September 30, 2013, a \$625,000 balance remained unpaid under the terms of a settlement agreement relating to the termination of a co-promotion agreement. Pursuant to the terms of this agreement,

six percent of net sales of Silenor are payable to the counterparty until the balance is paid in full. In July 2012 and January 2013, Somaxon settled two patent litigation claims with parties seeking to market generic equivalents of Silenor. Remaining payment obligations owed by Somaxon and assumed by Pernix under these settlement agreements are \$1,500,000 and \$2,000,000, respectively, payable in equal installments over the next seven and four years, respectively.

Table Of Contents

Uninsured Liabilities

The Company is exposed to various risks of losses related to torts, theft of, damage to, and destruction of assets, errors and omissions, injuries to employees, and natural disasters for which the Company maintains general liability insurance with limits and deductibles that management believes prudent in light of the exposure of the Company to loss and the cost of the insurance.

The Company is subject to various claims and litigation arising in the ordinary course of business. In the opinion of management, the outcome of such matters will not have a material effect on the consolidated financial position or results of operations of the Company.

Note 18. Subsequent Events

Co-Promotion Agreements

On October 28, 2013, the Company entered into an agreement with Cumberland Pharmaceuticals Inc. to promote Omeclamox-Pak. Pursuant to the agreement, Cumberland will promote Omeclamox-Pak to gastroenterologists in the United States, and the Company will continue to promote the product to certain primary care physicians. Cumberland paid an upfront payment of \$4.0 million to the Company on October 29, 2013. There are also additional milestones at the first and second anniversary dates of the execution of the agreement totaling \$4.0 million in the aggregate. Royalty payments ranging from 15% to 20% based on tiered levels of gross profits will be paid by Cumberland to the Company monthly.

Table Of Contents

ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion is designed to provide a better understanding of our unaudited consolidated financial statements, including a brief discussion of our business and products, key factors that impact our performance and a summary of our operating results. You should read the following Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations together with our unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements and the related notes included in "Part I—Item 1. Financial Statements" of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and the condensed consolidated financial statements and notes thereto and Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations contained in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012. In addition to historical information, the following discussion contains forward-looking statements that involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions. Our actual results could differ materially from those anticipated by the forward-looking statements due to important factors including, but not limited to, those set forth under "Part I—Item1A. Risk Factors" of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012 and "Part II—Item1A. Risk Factors" of this Ouarterly Report on Form 10-O for the three months ended September 30, 2013.

Executive Overview

Pernix Therapeutics Holdings, Inc. ("Pernix", the "Company, "we" or "our") is a specialty pharmaceutical company focused on the sales, marketing, manufacturing and development of branded, generic and over-the-counter, which we refer to herein as OTC, pharmaceutical products for pediatric and adult indications in a variety of therapeutic areas. We expect to continue to execute our growth strategy which includes the horizontal integration of our branded prescription, generic and OTC businesses. We also plan to continue to make strategic acquisitions of products and companies, as well as develop and in-license additional products as available capital permits. We manage a portfolio of branded and generic products. Our branded products for the pediatrics market include CEDAX®, an antibiotic for middle ear infections, NATROBA®, a topical treatment for head lice marketed under an exclusive co-promotion agreement with ParaPRO, LLC and ZUTRIPRO® for the treatment of cough and cold. Our branded products for gastroenterology include OMECLAMOX-PAK®, a 10-day treatment for H. pylori infection and duodenal ulcer disease, and REZYST®, a probiotic blend to promote dietary management. We also promote REPREXAIN, for short term management of acute pain, pursuant to a license and promotion agreement with Amneal Pharmaceuticals. Through our wholly-owned subsidiary, Pernix Sleep, Inc. (formerly Somaxon Pharmaceuticals, Inc.), we market SILENOR® (doxepin), a non-controlled substance approved for the treatment of insomnia characterized by difficulty with sleep maintenance. In addition, a product candidate utilizing cough-related intellectual property has been developed for the U.S. OTC market, and we licensed all of our rights to these assets in the United States and Canada in exchange for a royalty interest. We promote our branded pediatric and gastroenterology products through our sales force. We market our generic products in the areas of cough and cold, pain, vitamins, dermatology, antibiotics and gastroenterology through our wholly-owned subsidiaries, Macoven Pharmaceuticals and Cypress Pharmaceuticals. Our wholly-owned subsidiary, Pernix Manufacturing, manufactures and packages products for the pharmaceutical industry in a wide range of dosage forms.

On October 28, 2013, we entered into an agreement with Cumberland Pharmaceuticals Inc. to promote Omeclamox-Pak. Pursuant to the agreement, Cumberland will promote Omeclamox-Pak to gastroenterologists in the United States, and we will continue to promote the product to certain primary care physicians. Cumberland paid an upfront payment of \$4.0 million to us on October 29, 2013. There are also additional milestones at the first and second anniversary dates of the execution of the agreement totaling \$4.0 million in the aggregate. Royalty payments ranging from 15% to 20% based on tiered levels of gross profits will be paid by Cumberland to us monthly.

On September 11, 2013, we completed the sale of certain of our generic assets held by Cypress to Breckenridge. The acquisition was consummated pursuant to the terms of the Purchase Agreement, as amended. Breckenridge paid us

\$2,000,000 in cash upon execution of the Purchase Agreement, \$17,850,000, before customary closing costs of approximately \$173,000, in cash at closing, and issued two promissory notes, each in an amount of \$4,850,000, with one due on the first anniversary of the closing and the other due on the second anniversary of the closing, for an aggregate purchase price of up to \$29,550,000. See Notes 5 and 12 to our Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013 for further discussion.

In September 2013, we amended the terms of our co-promotion agreement with ParaPRO. ParaPRO will assume responsibility for distribution of NATROBA and related activities, and we and our subsidiaries will no longer purchase quantities of NATROBA at a discount for sale to customers. We will continue to provide promotion services for NATROBA in our assigned territories for co-promotion fees based on prescriptions generated by our sales force. With respect to generic products covered by the agreement, we will continue to provide distribution and co-promotion services for fees based on units distributed and prescriptions dispensed in defined territories. Our management expects our gross product sales for NATROBA to decrease based on the removal of the distribution-related revenue from the terms of the co-promotion arrangement. However, our management expects that the corresponding decreases in cost of goods and gross-to-net deductions and other distribution costs will substantially offset this decrease in gross product sales.

Table Of Contents

As previously reported, in December 2010, we entered into a joint venture with infirst (formerly SEEK) for the development of BC 1036. On May 14, 2012, we acquired the exclusive rights from SEEK, our former joint venture partner, to commercialize and market products utilizing the joint venture's intellectual property in the areas of cough, cold, sinus and allergy in the United States and Canada. Effective August 30, 2013, we re-licensed all of our rights to these assets in the United States and licensed the Dr. Cocoa trademark and logo to infirst in exchange for a royalty of 5% of net sales in the United States and Canada through 2020 and 2.5% of net sales in the United States and Canada from 2020 through 2029. Through our subsidiary, Pernix Manufacturing, we are currently working with infirst on a supply agreement to supply certain of infirst's manufactured product in the United States. As a result of this transaction, we no longer have any rights to a royalty for products utilizing the intellectual property outside of the United States and Canada.

On May 9, 2013, we received letters from one of our suppliers relating to non-compliant product labeling for certain active ingredients. We initiated a voluntary market withdrawal to the wholesale level for the impacted products which pose no safety risk. We have provided for product returns of approximately \$1,611,000 and written off inventory related to these products of approximately \$295,000. We have worked with the Food and Drug Administration Recall Coordinator to finalize our recall strategy. The recall is at the retail level and has been initiated.

On March 6, 2013, we acquired all of the outstanding common stock of Somaxon Pharmaceuticals, Inc. pursuant to an agreement and plan of merger dated December 10, 2012. As a result of the merger, each outstanding share of Somaxon common stock was converted into the right to receive 0.477 shares of our common stock, with cash paid in lieu of fractional shares. As a result of the merger, we issued an aggregate of approximately 3,665,689 shares of common stock to the former stockholders of Somaxon. At the time of acquisition, Somaxon was only marketing Silenor. The company's name was changed from Somaxon to Pernix Sleep, Inc.

On December 31, 2012, we completed the acquisition of a privately-owned, generic pharmaceutical company, Cypress Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and its branded pharmaceutical subsidiary Hawthorn Pharmaceuticals, Inc., which we refer to collectively herein as Cypress. Cypress offers a wide array of branded and generic pharmaceutical products in the areas of cough and cold, nutritional supplements, analgesics, urinary tract, women's health, prenatal vitamins and dental health, as well as allergy, respiratory, iron deficiency, nephrology and pain management. Hawthorn offers a broad portfolio of branded products including allergy, respiratory, iron deficiency, nephrology and pain management. We paid an aggregate purchase price of up to \$102.3 million. This purchase price included \$52 million in cash, 4,427,084 shares of our common stock having an aggregate market value equal to approximately \$34.3 million based on our common stock's closing price per share of \$7.75 as reported on the NYSE MKT LLC on December 31, 2012, up to \$6.5 million in holdback and contingent payments, \$4.5 million to be deposited in escrow on December 15, 2013, and \$5.0 million in shares of our common stock contingent upon the occurrence of a milestone event. We also granted a put right to the sellers pursuant to which the sellers may put the shares of our common stock issued in connection with the acquisition to us at approximately \$5.38 per share, with such put right being exercisable from January 1, 2014 to January 31, 2014. The Cypress acquisition significantly increased and broadened our branded and generic product portfolio and provided us with in-house product development and regulatory expertise. Since 2008, Cypress has been awarded nine ANDA and three NDA approvals (REZIRA, ZUTRIPRO and VITUZ) and prior to the sale of certain Cypress assets to Breckenridge had nine ANDAs on file with the FDA for future approvals. Currently, Cypress has one ANDA on file with the FDA for future approval. See Note 5, Disposition of Certain Cypress Assets, to our Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013 for further discussion.

We entered into a \$42 million credit facility on December 31, 2012 with Midcap Funding V, LLC as administrative agent, as a lender and as co-bookrunner and sole lead arranger, and with Business Development Corporation of America, as co-bookrunner, and additional lenders from time to time party thereto. The proceeds from this facility were used to fund a portion of the cash consideration of the acquisition of Cypress. On May 8, 2013, we entered into

an amended and restated credit agreement with MidCap Financial, LLC, as Administrative Agent and as a lender, and additional lenders from time to time party thereto. The restated credit agreement amends and restates in its entirety the December 2012 credit agreement.

The restated credit agreement provides for a term loan of \$10 million and a revolving loan commitment of \$20 million. In connection with the entry into the restated credit agreement, we prepaid approximately \$12 million of the term loan that had been previously outstanding under the December 2012 credit agreement. Under the restated credit agreement, our borrowing base on the revolving loan commitment is equal to (A) 85% of eligible accounts, plus (B) 50% of eligible inventory, minus (C) certain reserves and/or adjustments, subject to certain conditions and limitations. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the restated credit agreement provided for an advance of up to \$3 million in excess of our borrowing base until June 5, 2013, at which time all excess amounts were repaid accordingly. The balance under the term loan of \$7.7 million was paid from proceeds from the sale of the Cypress assets to Breckenridge. As of November 8, 2013, the term loan was paid in full and the outstanding balance under the revolver was \$15.5 million.

On July 2, 2012, we completed our acquisition of the business assets of Great Southern Laboratories (GSL), a pharmaceutical contract manufacturing company located in Houston, Texas. We closed on the related real estate on August 30, 2012. Upon the final closing, the Company paid an aggregate of approximately \$4.9 million (including \$300,000 deposited to an escrow that was subsequently refunded to us in payment of unrecorded liabilities), and assumed certain liabilities totaling approximately \$5.9 million, for substantially all of GSL's assets including the land and buildings in which GSL operates. GSL has an established manufacturing facility with an existing base of customers in the pharmaceutical industry, which provides us with additional income and potential cost savings. We acquired the GSL assets through our wholly-owned subsidiary, Pernix Manufacturing, LLC.

Table Of Contents

Pernix was incorporated in November 1996, is headquartered in Houston, Texas and employs approximately 237 people full-time. The words "we," "us" or "our" refer to Pernix and its consolidated subsidiaries, except where the context otherwise requires.

Business Strategy

Our objective is to be a leader in developing, marketing and selling prescription (branded and generic) and over-the-counter, or OTC, pharmaceutical products in the U.S. for pediatric and adult indications. Our strategy to achieve this objective includes the following elements:

Leveraging our focused sales and marketing organization- We have built a sales and marketing organization consisting of approximately 100 sales territories with a primary focus on pediatrics, internal medicine, family practice, and gastroenterology. In January 2013, we commenced the integration of the Pernix and Cypress sales forces which has resulted in the elimination of approximately 75 sales representatives across the company.

We believe the concentration of high volume prescribers in our target markets enables us to effectively promote our products with a smaller and more focused sales and marketing organization than would be required for other markets. We intend to acquire or in-license products and late-stage product development candidates and to develop products that will leverage the capacity of our sales and marketing organization, as well as the relationships we have established with our target physicians. Further, we believe fixed costs from our field sales personnel are significantly less per representative than those incurred by larger, more established pharmaceutical companies, due to our higher ratio of incentive based compensation. This aligns representative pay to sales performance, providing upside commission potential and attracting top sales performers.

Develop and sell generic versions of selected branded products through our Macoven and Cypress subsidiaries. We intend to continue developing our Macoven and Cypress subsidiaries to diversify our product mix while creating a base business without branding, patent life or sales force detailing. However, certain generic products in specific geographic areas may be promoted by our sales force. Our business goals for Macoven and Cypress include launching authorized generic products for branded pharmaceutical companies including generic equivalents of our own branded products, generic products for patented or niche branded products, and generic products that have a limited number of alternatives.

Development of OTC Products. We have formed an OTC division which is dedicated to marketing and acquiring products for the consumer healthcare market. In 2013 or early 2014, our partner may launch a cough medicine for children, Dr. Cocoa. In addition, the OTC division is exploring the possibility of the Rx to OTC switch of SILENOR (doxepin). We continue to evaluate these opportunities as well as potential acquisitions or licensing opportunities for the OTC market.

Acquiring or in-licensing late-stage product development candidates. We also selectively seek to acquire or in-license late-stage product development candidates, as capital permits. We are focused on product development candidates that are ready for or have already entered Phase III clinical trials and should therefore present less development risk than product candidates at an earlier stage of development. We focus on product development candidates that would be prescribed by our target physicians, especially in pediatrics, gastroenterology and certain other niche markets. We believe that our established sales and marketing organization make us an attractive commercialization partner for many biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies with late-stage product development candidates.

Acquiring or in-licensing approved pharmaceuticals. We have historically grown our business by acquiring or in-licensing rights to market and sell prescription and OTC pharmaceutical products, and we intend to continue to grow in this manner, as capital permits. We are particularly focused on products that are prescribed by pediatricians and that are under-promoted by large pharmaceutical companies. We believe that the revenue potential for these products is increasing, potentially creating attractive opportunities for us to acquire additional products in pediatrics and certain other therapeutic areas where the market sizes are smaller.

Expand into new geographical and therapeutic markets. Following the acquisition of Cypress and subsequent realignment of our sales force, we have approximately 102 sales representatives. We may also hire additional representatives to our sales force in both existing and new geographic markets to promote products in our existing product line. As capital permits, we intend to continue to explore additional therapeutic areas which have similar characteristics to the pediatrics market, including areas that are underserved by current pharmaceutical companies, where there is a readily identifiable set of high prescribing physicians for efficient sales force deployment or where we can acquire promotion sensitive products that are currently under-promoted by existing large pharmaceutical companies.

Realization of financial synergies through integration and consolidation plans. We intend to work to identify more products in our portfolio that can be manufactured by our subsidiary, Pernix Manufacturing, so as to realize improved product gross margins in the future. In addition, our sales team has been cross trained on the core products in our consolidated brand portfolio enhancing their effectiveness in the field and their potential to grow sales. We expect the integration of the businesses of Cypress and Somaxon and the realization of potential financial synergies to continue throughout 2013.

Table Of Contents

Acquisitions and License Agreements, Co-Promotions and Collaborations

We have and continue to grow our business through the use of acquisitions, license agreements, co-promotions and collaborations. We enter into acquisition, license and co-promotion agreements to acquire, develop, commercialize and market products and product candidates. In certain of these agreements, we market the products of others and remit a specified profit share to them. In certain other agreements, the contracted third party under the agreement markets products to which we have rights and remits a specified profit share to us. Collaborative agreements often include research and development efforts and/or capital funding requirements of the parties necessary to bring a product candidate to market. License, co-promotion and collaboration agreements may require royalty or profit share payments, contingent upon the occurrence of certain future events linked to the success of the product, as well as expense reimbursements or payments to third-party licensors.

Development Projects

Development of Late-stage Pediatric Product. In March 2012, we entered into a product development agreement with a private company for a prescription product for the pediatrics market. Under the terms of the agreement, Pernix obtained exclusive marketing rights to this late-stage development product in the United States, and Pernix will pay the costs related to the development of the product. Pernix expects to invest approximately \$6 million over an estimated 36-month period for development expenses related to this product candidate, and Pernix's development partner will manage the development program. Pernix and its development partner expect to commence pivotal phase III studies in 2014. Approximately \$1,323,000 has been incurred since the commencement of this project through September 30, 2013 (approximately \$976,000 in the nine months ended September 30, 2013 and \$347,000 in 2012).

Pernix has several active research and development projects. We anticipate filing up to two INDs and one 510K in the second half on 2013. We expect to initiate several clinical studies, including post approval commitments for Zutripro and Silenor, by the end of 2013. We will continue to be opportunistic in exploiting our in-house expertise and intellectual property to initiate additional low risk development projects. In addition, we continue to look for external opportunities through in-license, collaborations or partnerships to build the Pernix pipeline, as capital permits.

Third Quarter 2013 Highlights

The following summarizes certain key financial measures as of, and for, the three months ended September 30, 2013:

Cash and cash equivalents equaled \$9.7 million as of September 30, 2013.

Net revenues were approximately \$18.3 million and \$18.1 million for the three months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

Net (loss) before taxes was approximately (\$8.7) million and (\$0.7) million for the three months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively. This included approximately \$412,000 in cost of product sales from the increased basis of the inventory acquired in connection with the Cypress and Somaxon acquisitions that was recognized for products sold during the three months ended September 30, 2013. Net (loss) income before taxes was approximately (\$28.1) million and (\$0.2) million for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively. This included approximately \$5,123,000 in cost of product sales from the increased basis of the inventory acquired in connection with the Cypress and Somaxon acquisitions that was recognized for products sold during the nine months ended September 30, 2013.

Opportunities and Trends

There continue to be unmet patient needs in the pediatric area as well as other therapeutic areas. We believe that we can systematically focus our efforts on developing and acquiring products or acquiring the assets of other companies whose products or assets can meet these needs, as capital permits. We also believe that future growth could be realized in the execution of branded and generic development opportunities outside the pediatric area. We believe the combination of product development and acquisition can enhance our growth opportunities. Additionally, we plan to continue to leverage our industry relationships to identify and take advantage of new product opportunities. Currently, we believe we have significant opportunities in leveraging the assets and improving the profitability of the assets acquired in Cypress and Somaxon acquisitions as well as continuing the progress of our respective in-process research and development projects as capital permits. We will continue to focus our efforts on this strategy for the remainder of 2013.

Table Of Contents

We are operating in challenging economic and industry environments. The challenges we face are compounded by the continued uncertainty around the impact of the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act and the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act of 2010, which we refer to collectively herein as Health Care Reform. Given this business climate, we will continue to focus on managing and deploying our available cash efficiently and strengthening our industry relationships in order to be well-positioned to identify and capitalize upon potential growth opportunities.

As we execute our strategy, we will monitor and evaluate success through the following measures:

Net product sales generated from our existing products;

Revenues generated from profit sharing arrangements;

Ability to continue to effectively integrate the operations of Somaxon and Cypress;

Progress of our development pipeline (as discussed below); and

Acquisition of products and product rights that align with our strategy and that offer potential for sustainable growth, as capital permits

Financial Operations Overview

The discussion in this section describes our income statement categories. For a discussion of our results of operations, see "Results of Operations" below.

Net Revenues

Pernix's net revenues consist of net product sales and revenue from co-promotion and other revenue sharing arrangements. Pernix recognizes product sales net of estimated allowances for product returns, price adjustments (customer rebates, managed care rebates, service fees, chargebacks and other discounts), government program rebates (Medicaid, Medicare and other government sponsored programs) and prompt pay discounts. The primary factors that determine Pernix's net product sales are the level of demand for Pernix's products, unit sales prices, the applicable federal and supplemental government program rebates, contracted rebates, services fees, and chargebacks and other discounts that Pernix may offer. In addition to our own product portfolio, we have entered into co-promotion agreements and other revenue sharing arrangements with various parties in return for a percentage of revenue on sales we generate or on sales they generate.

The following table sets forth a summary of Pernix's net revenues for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012:

	Three Months Ended September 30, 2013 2012			Nine mon Septem 2013	
Upper respiratory, allergy and antibiotic products	\$ 8,997	\$	6,815	\$ 35,627	\$ 27,056
Gastroenterology products	2,643		2,987	6,774	6,321
Dietary supplements and medical food products	5,669		3,607	23,473	8,989
Analgesics	5,662		2,442	15,164	8,724
Sleep maintenance	2,797		8,548		

Edgar Filing: PERNIX THERAPEUTICS HOLDINGS, INC. - Form 10-Q

Dermatology products	3,512	4,104	7,311	6,018
Other products	2,950	415	9,340	415
Gross Product Sales	32,230	20,370	106,237	57,523
Sales Allowances	(15,080)	(5,510)	(50,246)	(19,313)
Net Product Sales	17,150	14,860	55,991	38,210
Manufacturing revenue	487	2,094	2,222	2,094
Co-promotion and other revenue	658	1,180	2,732	2,812
Total Net Revenues	\$ 18,295	\$ 18,134	\$ 60,946	\$ 43,116

Table Of Contents

Allowances for Prompt Pay Discounts, Product Returns, Price Adjustments, and Medicaid Rebates

The following table sets forth a summary of our allowances for product returns, government rebate programs and price adjustments as of September 30, 2013. Prompt pay discounts are recorded as a reduction of accounts receivable and revenue and, therefore, are not included in the table below. The allowance for prompt pay discounts as of September 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012 was approximately \$474,000 and \$728,000, respectively.

	Government						
	F	roduct	Program			Price	
	F	Returns	Rebates		Adj	ustments	
	(in (in			(in	(in		
	tho	ousands)	tho	usands)	thousands)		
Balance at December 31, 2011	\$	5,712	\$	5,843	\$	5,451	
Allowances assumed in acquisition of Cypress		5,901		1,175		4,586	
Current provision:							
Adjustments to provision for prior year sales		1,840		(1,075)		(272)	
Provision – current year sales		5,426		7,689		15,368	
Payments and credits		(6,822)		(6,595)		(14,173)	
Balance at December 31, 2012		12,057		7,037		10,960	
Allowances assumed in acquisition of Somaxon		776		479		1,113	
Post closing opening balance sheet adjustment		1,374		391		416	
Current provision:							
Adjustments to provision for prior year sales		1,611		(921)		(300)	
Provision – current year sales		6,268		6,427		35,170	
Payments and credits		(11,745)		(8,007)		(33,909)	
Balance at September 30, 2013	\$	10,341	\$	5,406	\$	13,450	

Product Returns. Consistent with industry practice, we offer contractual return rights that allow our customers to return short-dated or expiring products within an 18-month period, commencing six months prior to and up to twelve months subsequent to the product expiration date. Our products have a 15 to 36-month expiration period from the date of manufacture. We adjust our estimate of product returns if we become aware of other factors that we believe could significantly impact our expected returns. These factors include our estimate of inventory levels of our products in the distribution channel, the shelf life of the products shipped, review of consumer consumption data as reported by external information management companies, actual and historical return rates for expired lots, the forecast of future sales of the products, competitive issues such as new product entrants and other known changes in sales trends. We estimate returns at percentages up to 10% of sales of branded and generic products and from time to time, higher on launch sales of new products. Returns estimates are based upon historical data and other facts and circumstances that may impact future expected returns to derive an average return percentage for our products. In addition to the accrual on sales during the nine months ended September 30, 2013, the Company recorded an additional returns allowance for the returns of certain recalled products of approximately \$390,000 and reclassified approximately \$300,000 in unrealized price adjustments and approximately \$921,000 in unrealized Medicaid rebates on these recalled products due to the fact that they will now be returned instead of prescribed under Medicaid. The returns reserve may be adjusted as sales history and returns experience is accumulated on this portfolio of products. We review and adjust these reserves quarterly. If estimates regarding product demand are inaccurate, if changes in the competitive environment affect demand for certain products, or if other unforeseen circumstances affect a product's salability, actual returns could differ and such differences could be material. For example, a 1% difference in our provision assumptions for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 would have affected pre-tax loss by approximately \$1,047,000.

Government Program Rebates. The liability for government program rebates is estimated based on historical and current rebate redemption and utilization rates contractually submitted by each state's program administrator and assumptions regarding future government program utilization for each product sold. As we become aware of changing circumstances regarding the Medicaid and Medicare coverage of our products, we will incorporate such changing circumstances into the estimates and assumptions that we use to calculate government program rebates. If our estimates and assumptions prove inaccurate, we may be subject to higher or lower government program rebates. For example, with respect to the provision for the nine months ended September 30, 2013, a 1% difference in the provision assumptions based on utilization would have affected pre-tax loss by approximately \$188,000 and a 1% difference in the provisions based on reimbursement rates would have affected pre-tax loss by approximately \$55,000.

Table Of Contents

Price Adjustments. Our estimates of price adjustments, which include customer rebates, service fees, chargebacks and other discounts, are based on our estimated mix of sales to various third-party payors who are entitled either contractually or statutorily to discounts from the listed prices of our products and contracted service fees with our wholesalers. In the event that the sales mix to third-party payors or the contract fees paid to the wholesalers are different from our estimates, we may be required to pay higher or lower total price adjustments than originally estimated. For example, for the nine months ended September 30, 2013, a 1% difference in the assumptions based on the applicable sales would have affected pre-tax loss by approximately \$1,624,000.

We, from time to time, offer certain promotional product-related incentives to our customers. These programs include sample cards to retail consumers, certain product incentives to pharmacy customers and other sales stocking allowances. For example, we have initiated coupon programs for certain of our promoted products whereby we offer a point-of-sale subsidy to retail consumers. We estimate our liabilities for these coupon programs based on redemption information provided by a third party claims processing organization. We account for the costs of these special promotional programs as a reduction of gross revenue when applicable products are sold to the wholesalers or other retailers. Any price adjustments that are not contractual but that are offered at the time of sale are recorded as a reduction of revenue when the sales order is recorded. These adjustments are not accrued as they are offered on a non-recurring basis at the time of sale and are recorded as an expense at the time of the sale. These allowances may be offered at varying times throughout the year or may be associated with specific events such as a new product launch or to reintroduce a product. Approximately 5% of the provision relates to promotional point-of-sale discounts to the wholesaler.

Prompt Payment Discounts. We typically require our customers to remit payments within the first 30 days for branded products (60 to 120 days for generics, depending on the customer and the products purchased). We offer wholesale distributors a prompt payment discount if they make payments within these deadlines. This discount is generally 2-3%, but may be higher in some instances due to product launches and/or industry expectations. Because our wholesale distributors typically take advantage of the prompt pay discount, we accrue 100% of the prompt pay discounts, based on the gross amount of each invoice, at the time of our original sale, and apply earned discounts at the time of payment. This allowance is recorded as a reduction of accounts receivable and revenue. We adjust the accrual periodically to reflect actual experience. Historically, these adjustments have not been material. We do not anticipate that future changes to our estimates of prompt payment discounts will have a material impact on our net revenue.

Cost of Sales

Our cost of product sales is primarily comprised of the costs of manufacturing and distributing our pharmaceutical products and profit sharing and royalty expenses related to co-promotion and license agreements with third parties. We partner with third parties to manufacture certain of our products and product candidates while some of our products are manufactured by the manufacturing plant that we acquired in July 2012. We expect to utilize Pernix Manufacturing to manufacture more of our products moving forward which we expect will result in a reduction of the cost of certain of our products.

Most of our manufacturing arrangements with third party manufacturers are not subject to long-term agreements and generally may be terminated by either party without penalty at any time. Changes in the price of raw materials and manufacturing costs could adversely affect our gross margins on the sale of our products. Changes in our mix of products sold also affect our cost of product sales.

From time to time in the ordinary course of business, we enter into agreements regarding royalty payments or other profit sharing payments. Royalty expenses include the contractual amounts we are required to pay licensors from which we have acquired the rights to certain of our marketed products. Royalty and profit sharing expenses will vary

based on changes in product sales and/or product mix.

In the acquisitions of Cypress and Somaxon, we recorded an increase in the basis of the inventory acquired of approximately \$8,600,000 and \$695,000, respectively. The increase will be recognized in cost of sales as the acquired inventory is sold. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013, approximately \$412,000 and \$5,123,000, respectively, of the increase in costs of sales was attributed to sales of the acquired inventory which has a significantly higher basis than the inventory purchased post-closing.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Our selling, general and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries, benefits and commissions as well as public company costs, professional and consulting fees, sales data costs, insurance, and company overhead.

Table Of Contents

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses consist of costs incurred in identifying, developing and testing products and product candidates. We either expense research and development costs as incurred or, if we pay manufacturers a prepaid research and development fee, we will expense such fee ratably over the term of the development. We believe that significant investment in research and development is important to our competitive position and plan to increase our expenditures for research and development to realize the potential of the product candidates that we are developing or may develop, as capital permits. Since 2008, Cypress has been awarded nine ANDA and three NDA approvals (REZIRA, ZUTRIPRO and VITUZ) and had nine ANDAs on file with the FDA for future approvals at the time of our acquisition. Following the sale of certain Cypress assets to Breckenridge which included certain ANDAs on file with the FDA for future approval, Cypress now has one ANDA on file with the FDA for future approval. See Notes 1 and 5 to our Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012 in Part I of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, related to the sale of certain Cypress generic assets and ANDAs that were purchased in the Cypress acquisition.

Other Income and Expenses

Depreciation Expense. Depreciation expense is recognized for our property and equipment, which depreciates over the estimated useful life of the asset using the straight-line method.

Amortization Expense. Amortization expense is recognized for certain of our intangible assets, consisting primarily of patents, brands, licensing, non-competes and supplier contracts including those acquired in the acquisitions of Pernix Manufacturing (formerly Great Southern Labs), Cypress and Somaxon. These assets are amortized over their estimated useful lives using the straight-line method. See Note 9, Intangible Assets and Goodwill, to our Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012.

Income Taxes. Deferred taxes are recognized for the tax consequences of "temporary differences" by applying enacted statutory rates applicable to future years to the difference between the financial statement carrying amounts and the tax bases of existing assets and liabilities. The effect on deferred taxes for a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date. We will recognize future tax benefits to the extent that realization of such benefits is more likely than not. During the first quarter 2013, we recorded a deferred tax liability of approximately \$11.3 million related to the increase in the basis of the assets acquired in the Somaxon acquisition and an additional \$2.9 million deferred tax liability related to the increase in the basis of certain assets related to the Cypress acquisition.

Critical Accounting Estimates

For information regarding our critical accounting policies and estimates please refer to "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates" contained in our annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012 and Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements contained therein. There have been no material changes to the critical accounting policies previously disclosed in that report.

Results of Operations

Comparison of the Three Months Ended September 30, 2013 and 2012

Net Revenues. Net revenues were approximately \$18,295,000 and \$18,134,000 for the three months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively, an increase of approximately \$161,000 or 1.0%. The Cypress and Hawthorn product

portfolio, acquired on December 31, 2012, contributed approximately \$7,076,000 in net revenues, and the Somaxon product, acquired on March 6, 2013, contributed approximately \$1,565,000 in net revenues. These contributions from the Cypress, Hawthorn and Somaxon products were offset by a decrease in the net revenues of our legacy portfolio (pre-acquisition portfolio) of products of approximately \$6,873,000. This decrease was primarily due to the timing of sales of CEDAX as our customers made additional seasonal purchases of the product at the end of September in 2012, while this year the early season purchases of CEDAX were made in early October instead. Also, contributing to this decrease is the discontinuation of the sale of certain generic products due to a patent litigation settlement and the discontinuation of certain recalled cough and cold products. We also recognized a decrease of approximately \$1,607,000 in revenue from our manufacturing facility as the majority of the third quarter 2012 revenues were from Cypress and Hawthorn, prior to our acquisition of these companies. Gross to net deductions as a percent of gross revenue have increased by approximately 16% primarily due to rebates under managed care contracts as well as coupon programs initiated on more of our products and increased utilization under our coupon programs. Total net revenues consisted of 50% from generic product sales and 50% from branded product sales. See additional discussion of gross to net allowances discussed above under the heading Allowances for Prompt Pay Discounts, Product Returns, Price Adjustments, and Medicaid Rebates.

Table Of Contents

Cost of Product Sales. Cost of sales was approximately \$9,572,000, or 29.3% of gross product sales and manufacturing revenue, and \$7,760,000, or 34.5% of gross product sales and manufacturing revenue for the three months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively, an increase of approximately \$1,812,000, or 23.4%. Approximately \$412,000 of the expense in the current period is from the increased basis of the inventory acquired in connection with the Cypress and Somaxon acquisitions that was recognized for products sold during the three months ended September 30, 2013. The remaining increase in basis of the inventory acquired in connection with the Cypress and Somaxon acquisitions is approximately \$3,951,000, and will be amortized on a pro-rata basis as the acquired inventory is sold and included in cost of sales in future periods. The reserve for unsalable products included in the cost of sales was approximately \$306,000 in the three months ended September 30, 2013, compared to approximately \$248,000 in the three months ended September 30, 2012. Cost of sales, exclusive of the cost associated with the increase in inventory basis and the reserve for unsalable products was approximately \$8,853,000, or 27.1% of gross product sales, which was a decrease of 6.4% from the prior year of 33.4%, due to more sales of lower priced products and also the in-house manufacturing of certain of our products, offset by a higher percentage of sales of products that are subject to profit sharing arrangements.

Collaboration and royalty expense included in cost of sales was approximately \$2,024,000 and \$1,058,000 for the three months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively. This increase of approximately \$967,000 was primarily due to profit sharing arrangements on several of the Cypress products and Silenor.

Gross Margin. Gross profit margin on the net sales of our products was 49.9% (excluding the increase in the cost of sales attributed to sales of the acquired inventory which has a significantly higher basis than the inventory purchased post-closing) and 57.2% for the three months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively, a decrease of 7.3%.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses. Selling, general and administrative expenses were approximately \$11,740,000 and \$9,837,000 for the three months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively, an increase of approximately \$1,902,000, or 19.3%.

Overall compensation expense represented approximately \$6,361,000, or 54.2%, and \$4,752,000, or 48.3%, of total selling, general and administrative expenses for the three months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively. The increase of approximately \$1,607,000 in overall compensation expense is primarily due to the addition of Cypress employees effective January 1, 2013, offset by decreases resulting from the reorganization of the consolidated company and the elimination and consolidation of certain management level and staff positions.

Other selling, general and administrative expenses were approximately \$5,379,000 and \$5,085,000 for the three months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively, an increase of approximately \$294,000. This increase was primarily due to the incremental increase of the facility operating expenses from the acquisitions of Cypress and Somaxon subsequent to September 30, 2012 offset by certain synergistic savings in the operations of the consolidated business. In addition, during the three months ended September 30, 2013, we incurred deal expenses of approximately \$576,000 related to the sale of certain Cypress assets in September 2013.

Research and Development Expense (R&D). Research and development expenses were approximately \$633,000 and \$333,000 for the three months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively. The increase of approximately \$300,000 was primarily due to expenses incurred related to the in-process research and development, including the compensation of the individuals in the R&D department, acquired in connection with the acquisition of Cypress and furthering the development of a late-stage pediatric product.

Depreciation and Amortization Expense. Depreciation expenses were approximately \$181,000 and \$112,000 for the three months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively. The increase of approximately \$70,000 was due to the addition of the addition of Cypress fixed assets on December 31, 2012 and the addition of Somaxon fixed assets in

March 2013 and other routine furniture and computer equipment additions during the year.

Amortization expense was approximately \$2,491,000 and \$774,000 for the three months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012. The increase in amortization expense of approximately \$1,717,000, or 221.6%, is due to the addition of intangible assets in the acquisitions of Cypress and Somaxon. For further discussion, see Note 9, Intangible Assets and Goodwill, to our Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012.

Interest Expense, net. Interest income was approximately \$29,000 and \$20,000 for the three months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively. Interest expense was approximately \$812,000 and \$12,000 for the three months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively. The increase in interest expense of approximately \$800,000 was primarily due to the credit facility with MidCap Funding V, LLC, effective December 31, 2012 as amended and restated on May 8, 2013. For further discussion, see Note 12, Debt, to our Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012.

Table Of Contents

Comparison of the Nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012

Net Revenues. Net revenues were approximately \$60,946,000 and \$43,116,000 for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively, an increase of approximately \$17,830,000, or 41.4%. The Cypress and Hawthorn product portfolio, acquired on December 31, 2012, contributed approximately \$26,886,000 in net revenues and the Somaxon product, acquired on March 6, 2013, contributed approximately \$3,691,000 in net revenues. These increases were offset by a decrease in the net revenues of our legacy portfolio (pre-acquisition portfolio) of products of approximately \$12,747,000. This decrease was due in part to (i) the discontinuation of the sale of certain generic products due to patent litigation settlement, (ii) the recall of certain cough and cold products, and (iii) the timing of CEDAX purchases by our wholesale customers this period compared to the same period in the prior year. Gross to net deductions as a percent of gross revenue have increased by approximately 13% primarily due to rebates under managed care contracts as well as coupon programs initiated on more of our products and increased utilization under our coupon programs. Total net revenues during the nine months ended September 30, 2013 consisted of 51% from generic product sales and 49% from branded product sales compared to 63% brand and 37% generic during the nine months ended September 30, 2012.

Cost of Product Sales. Cost of product sales was approximately \$33,812,000, or 31.2% of gross product sales, and \$15,861,000, or 26.6% of gross product sales, for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively, an increase of approximately \$17,950,000, or 113.2%. Approximately \$5,123,000 of this amount is from the increased basis of the inventory acquired in connection with the Cypress and Somaxon acquisitions that was recognized for products sold during the nine months ended September 30, 2013. As previously noted above, the remaining increase in basis of the inventory acquired in connection with the Cypress and Somaxon acquisitions is approximately \$3,951,000, and will be amortized on a pro-rata basis as the acquired inventory is sold and included in cost of sales in future periods. The reserve for unsalable products, included in cost of product sales, was approximately \$1,934,000 in the nine months ended in September 30, 2013 compared to approximately \$345,000 in the nine months ended September 30, 2012. Cost of sales, exclusive of the cost associated with the increase in inventory basis and reserve for unsalable products, was approximately \$26,755,000, or 24.7% of gross product sales, similar to the prior year period which was 26.0%. As noted above, this decrease is due to more sales of lower priced products and also the in-house manufacturing of certain of our products, offset by a higher percentage of sales of products that are subject to profit sharing arrangements.

Collaboration and royalty expense included in cost of sales was approximately \$5,113,000 and \$2,973,000, for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively, an increase of approximately \$2,140,000. The increase in the collaboration expense was primarily due to profit sharing arrangements on several Cypress products and Silenor.

Gross Margin. Gross profit margin on the net sales of our products was 52.9% (excluding the increase in the cost of sales attributed to sales of the acquired inventory which has a significantly higher basis than the inventory purchased post-closing) and 63.2% for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively, a decrease of approximately 10.3%.

Selling, General and Administrative Expense (SG&A). Selling, general and administrative expenses were approximately \$38,960,000 and \$24,302,000 for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively, an increase of approximately \$14,658,000, or 60.3%.

Overall compensation expense represented approximately \$19,308,000, or 49.6%, and \$11,423,000, or 47.0%, of total selling, general and administrative expenses for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively. The increase of approximately \$7,885,000 in overall compensation expense is primarily due to the addition of Cypress employees effective January 1, 2013, and the addition of Pernix Manufacturing employees in July

2012 offset by decreases resulting from the reorganization of the consolidated company and the elimination and consolidation of certain management level and staff positions.

Other selling, general and administrative expenses were approximately \$19,653,000 and \$12,880,000 for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively, an increase of approximately \$6,773,000. This increase was primarily due to the incremental increase of the SG&A expenses from the acquisitions of Cypress, Somaxon and the manufacturing facility subsequent to September 30, 2012. In addition, during the nine months ended September 30, 2013, Pernix incurred increases in (i) deal expenses of approximately \$1,100,000 related to these acquisitions and to the sale of certain Cypress assets in September 2013, (ii) approximately \$694,000 in the increase of other SG&A expenses of our OTC division, and (iii) approximately \$1,184,000 in an increase in legal expenses related to certain litigation that has now been settled.

Research and Development Expenses (R&D). R&D expenses were approximately \$3,633,000 and \$512,000 for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively. The increase of \$3,121,000 was primarily due to expenses incurred related to the in-process research and development, including the compensation of the individuals in the R&D department, acquired in connection with the acquisition of Cypress and furthering the development of a late-stage pediatric product.

Table Of Contents

Loss from the Operations of the Joint Venture. The loss from the operations of our former joint venture with SEEK was approximately \$0 and \$240,000 for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively,

Depreciation and Amortization Expense. Depreciation expense was approximately \$488,000 and \$163,000 for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively. The increase of approximately \$325,000 was due to the addition of the manufacturing fixed assets acquired in July 2012 and the addition of Cypress fixed assets on December 31, 2012 and other routine furniture and computer equipment additions during the year.

Amortization expense was approximately \$6,979,000 and \$2,157,000 for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively. The increase in amortization expense of approximately \$4,821,000 is due to the addition of intangible assets in the acquisitions of Cypress, Somaxon and our manufacturing facility, along with other licenses acquired in 2012 (including the license for OMECLAMOX-PAK®). For further discussion, see Note 9, Intangible Assets and Goodwill, to our Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012.

Interest Expense, net. Interest income was approximately \$47,000 and \$56,000 for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively. Interest expense was approximately \$3,539,000 and \$116,000 for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively. The increase in interest expense of approximately \$3,423,000 was primarily due to the interest and related financing costs from the restated credit agreement with MidCap Financial, LLC. For further discussion, see Note 12, Debt, to our Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Sources of Liquidity

Pernix's net loss was approximately (\$6,049,000) and (\$270,000) for the three months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012 and (\$20,065,000) and (\$11,000) for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

Pernix requires cash to meet its operating expenses and for research and development, capital expenditures, acquisitions, and in-licenses of rights to products. To date, Pernix has funded its operations primarily from product sales, co-promotion agreement revenues, proceeds from equity offerings and debt facilities.

As described in Note 1, Company Overview, and Note 5, Disposition of Certain Cypress Assets, to our Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, on August 5, 2013, we entered into an agreement to sell certain generic assets and ANDAs owned by our subsidiary, Cypress, to Breckenridge Pharmaceutical, Inc. for \$30 million. Under the terms of the agreement, Breckenridge paid us \$20 million in an upfront payment and \$9.7 million of which is to be paid in two equal payments over the next two years. The assets include seven previously marketed products, eight Abbreviated New Drug Applications (ANDAs) filed at the FDA, and certain other ANDAs in various stages of development and the transfer of \$1.0 million in inventory.

As described in Note 12, Debt, to our Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, we entered into a \$42 million credit facility on December 31, 2012 with Midcap Funding V, LLC, as administrative agent, as a lender and as co-bookrunner and sole lead arranger, Business Development Corporation of America, as co-bookrunner, and additional lenders from time to time party thereto, or the Original Credit Agreement. We utilized the proceeds from this credit facility in the acquisition of Cypress.

On May 7, 2013, we, together with our subsidiaries, entered into the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement or the Restated Credit Agreement with MidCap Financial, LLC, as Administrative Agent and as a lender, and additional

lenders from time to time party thereto. The Restated Credit Agreement amends and restates in its entirety the Original Credit Agreement.

The Restated Credit Agreement provides for a term loan of \$10 million and a revolving loan commitment of \$20 million. In connection with the entry into the Restated Credit Agreement, we prepaid approximately \$12 million of the term loan that had been previously outstanding under the Original Credit Agreement. Under the Restated Credit Agreement, our borrowing base on the revolving loan commitment is equal to (A) 85% of eligible accounts, plus (B) 50% of eligible inventory, minus (C) certain reserves and/or adjustments, subject to certain conditions and limitations. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Restated Credit Agreement provided for an advance of up to \$3 million in excess of our borrowing base until June 8, 2013, at which time all excess amounts were repaid. Pursuant to the terms of the Restated Credit Agreement, the closing of the sale of the Cypress assets (see Note 1) triggered a requirement by us to repay the term loan included in the Credit Agreement. At the closing, we paid approximately \$7.7 million from the sale proceeds to MidCap in fulfillment of this requirement, and as a result, the term loan has been repaid in full. As of November 8, 2013, the outstanding balance under the revolver was \$15.5 million.

Table Of Contents

Unlike the Original Credit Agreement, the Restated Credit Agreement does not include covenants limiting capital expenditures or requiring us to maintain a fixed charge coverage ratio and leverage ratio, but rather contains covenants requiring us to maintain a minimum amount of EBITDA and net invoiced revenues. Similar to the Original Credit Agreement, the Restated Credit Agreement includes customary covenants for a secured credit facility, which include, among other things, (a) restrictions on (i) the incurrence of indebtedness, (ii) the creation of or existence of liens, (iii) the incurrence or existence of contingent obligations, (iv) making certain dividends or other distributions, (v) certain consolidations, mergers or sales of assets and (vi) purchases of assets, investments and acquisitions; and (b) requirements to deliver financial statements, reports and notices to the administrative agent and other lenders. The Restated Credit Agreement also contains customary representations and warranties and event of default provisions for a secured credit facility.

The loans under this facility bear interest at a rate equal to the sum of the LIBOR rate (with a floor of 1.5%) plus an applicable margin of 7.50% per annum. Pursuant to the Restated Credit Agreement, the Company paid certain customary fees to the administrative agent and lenders.

Under the Restated Credit Agreement, the revolving loan will be paid based on our cash receipts, with all principal due and payable on May 7, 2016. In addition, we are able to voluntarily prepay outstanding amounts under the revolving loan commitment at any time, subject to certain prepayment penalties.

The obligations under the Restated Credit Agreement are secured by a first priority perfected security interest in substantially all of our assets, subject to certain permitted liens.

Pernix has an effective shelf registration statement on Form S-3 filed with the SEC under which we may offer from time to time any combination of debt securities, common and preferred stock and warrants. However, the rules and regulations of the SEC or other regulatory agencies may restrict our ability to conduct certain types of financing activities, or may affect the timing of and the amounts we can raise by undertaking such activities. For example, under current SEC regulations, because the aggregate market value of our common stock held by non-affiliates or our public float is less than \$75 million, the amount that we can raise through primary public offerings of securities in any twelve-month period using one or more registration statements on Form S-3 is limited to an aggregate of one-third of our public float.

Cash Flows

The following table provides information regarding Pernix's cash flows for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012:

	Nine months ended September 30, (rounded)				
	2013		2012		
Cash (used in) provided by					
Operating activities	\$ (9,427,000)	\$	674,000		
Investing activities	23,400,000		(13,189,000)		
Financing activities	(27,305,000)		15,001,000		
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents	\$ (13,332,000)	\$	2,486,000		

Net Cash from Operating Activities

Net cash used in operating activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 was approximately \$9,427,000. Net cash used in operating activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 reflects Pernix's net loss of approximately \$20,065,000, adjusted by non-cash expenses totaling approximately \$12,209,000 offset by a non-cash deferred income tax benefit of approximately \$10,230,000 and approximately \$8,659,000 in net changes in accounts receivable, inventories, accrued expenses and other operating assets and liabilities. Non-cash expenses included amortization of approximately \$6,979,000, depreciation of approximately \$488,000, amortization of deferred financing costs of approximately \$1,120,000, stock compensation expense of approximately \$1,516,000, stock option expense for options issued to ParaPRO of approximately \$426,000, a change in the fair value of the put right of approximately \$6,117,000 and a loss on the sale of assets of approximately \$1,000, offset by interest accretion of notes receivable of approximately \$28,000, a gain on the sale of the TherapeuticsMD stock of approximately \$3,605,000 and a change in the fair value of the contingent consideration of approximately \$805,000.

Net cash provided by operating activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2012 was approximately \$674,000. Net cash from operating activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2012 reflects Pernix's net loss of approximately \$11,000, adjusted by non-cash expenses totaling approximately \$5,003,000 partially offset by a non-cash deferred income tax benefit of approximately \$517,000 and approximately \$3,820,000 in net changes in accounts receivable, inventories, accrued expenses and other operating assets and liabilities. Non-cash expenses included amortization of approximately \$2,158,000, depreciation of approximately \$163,000, stock compensation expense of approximately \$1,902,000, stock option expense for options issued to ParaPRO of approximately \$540,000 and expenses from our joint venture with SEEK of approximately \$240,000.

Accounts receivable at September 30, 2013, decreased approximately \$14,507,000 from December 31, 2012 primarily attributable to the seasonal decrease in sales when comparing December to September. Inventories decreased approximately \$4,903,000 due in part to the sale of certain Cypress products in September 2013 and the transfer of this inventory to the purchaser in addition to lower inventory values attributed to seasonality as inventory levels are higher during the fourth and first quarter of each year. Prepaid expenses and other assets increased approximately \$2,969,000 due to the prepayment of certain FDA fees that are amortized on an annual basis starting October 1. Accounts payable increased approximately \$100,000 due to the timing of payment of routine operating expenses. Accrued allowances and expenses decreased approximately \$8,995,000 primarily due to the timing of the payment of accrued allowances and accrued expenses assumed in the acquisition of Cypress and the payment of accrued allowances such as government program rebates, returns credits taken and other price adjustments during the nine months ended September 30, 2013.

Table Of Contents

Net Cash from Investing Activities

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012 was approximately \$23,400,000 and (\$13,189,000), respectively. The cash provided by investing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 consisted of approximately \$4,605,000 in proceeds from the sale of TherapeuticsMD stock, approximately \$27,000 in proceeds from the sale of certain equipment, offset by approximately \$310,000 paid to former owners of Cypress under a reimbursement obligation related to Cypress cash balances at closing and approximately \$510,000 in office furniture and equipment purchases and \$19,588,000 in proceeds from the sale of certain Cypress assets (see Notes 1 and 5 to our Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012). The cash used in investing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2012 consisted of \$2,400,000 to acquire the license for Omeclamox-Pak®, approximately \$4,667,000 to acquire GSL, \$5,000,000 to acquire the license from SEEK for the non-codeine antitussive drug in development, , the acquisition of other product licenses for \$850,000 and purchases of software, furniture and equipment of approximately \$280,000 offset by proceeds from the sale of computer equipment of approximately \$8,000.

Net Cash Used in Financing Activities

Net cash used in financing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 was approximately \$27,305,000 compared to net cash provided by financing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2012 of approximately \$15,001,000. The cash used in financing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 consisted of approximately (i) \$11,972,000 in prepayments of the term loan that had previously been outstanding under the Original Credit Agreement, (ii) an additional \$525,000 in principal payments on the term loan that had previously been outstanding under the Original Credit Agreement, (iii) \$10,000,000 in principal payments on the new term loan, (iv) \$5,761,000 in net payments on the new revolving credit facility, (v) \$1,700,000 in payments on contracts payable, (vi) \$120,000 in payments under our mortgage and certain capital leases, (vii) \$84,000 of tax benefits on stock-based awards and (v) \$209,000 in payments of an employees' income tax liability from the vesting of restricted stock, offset by \$2,880,837 in cash on-hand at Somaxon on the day of closing, and \$184,000 in net proceeds from the issuance of stock to employees.

Net cash from investing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2012 was approximately \$15,001,000 and consisted of approximately (i) \$23,751,000 in net proceeds from our controlled equity offering, (ii) a \$148,000 tax benefit on stock-based awards, (iii) \$173,000 in net proceeds from the issuance of stock to employees and/or board members, offset by approximately (iv) \$6,000,000 in payments on our line of credit, (v) \$2,990,000 in payments on contracts and \$81,000 on the GSL mortgage and capital lease obligations.

Funding Requirements

As of November 8, 2013, we had approximately \$14.3 million of cash and cash equivalents and \$4.5 million of potential availability under our revolving line of credit. We believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents and available credit and revenue from product sales will be sufficient to enable us to fund our existing level of operating expense, certain planned development activities and general capital expenditure requirements through the first quarter of 2014 based on our additional opportunities to recognize synergistic savings from our acquisitions, our ability to pace our research and development spend as available capital permits and the potential to sell non-core assets. Pernix's future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including:

our ability to successfully complete the integration of the operations of Cypress and Somaxon;

the level of product sales from our currently marketed products and any additional products that we may market in the future;

our ability to successfully offset or reduce the contingent payments and put right related obligations to the former Cypress stockholders through the indemnity claims process or otherwise;

the extent to which we acquire or invest in products, businesses and technologies;

Table Of Contents

the scope, progress, results and costs of clinical development activities for our product candidates;

the costs, timing and outcome of regulatory review of our product candidates;

the number of, and development requirements for, additional product candidates that we pursue;

the costs of commercialization activities, including product marketing, sales and distribution;

the extent to which we choose to establish additional collaboration, co-promotion, distribution or other similar arrangements for our products and product candidates; and

the costs of preparing, filing and prosecuting patent applications and maintaining, enforcing and defending intellectual property-related claims.

In addition, we face the potential for significant cash outflows in the near term based on the contingent consideration and put rights related to our acquisition of Cypress. We have initiated the indemnity claim process with the Cypress selling stockholders to obtain financial relief under the original securities purchase agreement, which relief may offset or reduce the amounts of contingent liabilities we face relating to the Cypress acquisition. We believe that our claims are well-supported. In the event that we are unsuccessful in obtaining a satisfactory outcome with respect to such claims, including any future related litigation that may be undertaken, we may be unable to meet certain contingent obligations relating to this matter and our liquidity may be impaired.

With respect to our operating obligations that are not related to the Cypress acquisition, we intend to rely upon our cash on hand and accounts receivable generated through sales of our products (including those generated during the cold and flu season, when sales of our cough and cold products have historically trended upward), as well as potential continued cost reductions in its business.

We intend to obtain any additional funding we require through public or private equity or debt financings, strategic relationships, including the divestiture of non-core assets, assigning receivables, milestone payments or royalty rights, or other arrangements and we cannot assure such funding will be available on reasonable terms, or at all. Additional equity financing will be dilutive to stockholders, and debt financing, if available, may involve restrictive covenants. Any exploration of strategic alternatives may not result in an agreement or transaction and, if completed, any agreement or transaction may not be successful or on attractive terms. The inability to enter into a strategic transaction, or a strategic transaction that is not successful or on attractive terms, could accelerate our need for cash and make securing funding on reasonable terms more difficult. In addition, if we raise additional funds through collaborations or other strategic transactions, it may be necessary to relinquish potentially valuable rights to our potential products or proprietary technologies, or grant licenses on terms that are not favorable to us.

We have an effective shelf registration statement on Form S-3 filed with the SEC under which we may offer from time to time any combination of debt securities, common and preferred stock and warrants. However, the rules and regulations of the SEC or other regulatory agencies may restrict our ability to conduct certain types of financing activities, or may affect the timing of and the amounts we can raise by undertaking such activities. For example, under current SEC regulations, because our public float is less than \$75 million, the amount that we can raise through primary public offerings of securities in any twelve-month period using one or more registration statements on Form S-3 is limited to an aggregate of one-third of our public float.

If our efforts in raising additional funds when needed are unsuccessful, we may be required to delay, scale-back or eliminate plans or programs relating to our business, relinquish some or all rights to our products or renegotiate less favorable terms with respect to such rights than we would otherwise choose or cease operating as a going concern. In

addition, if we do not meet our payment obligations to third parties as they come due, we may be subject to litigation claims. Even if we were successful in defending against these potential claims, litigation could result in substantial costs and be a distraction to management, and may result in unfavorable results that could further adversely impact our financial condition.

If we are unable to continue as a going concern, we may have to liquidate our assets and may receive less than the value at which those assets are carried on our financial statements, and it is likely that investors will lose all or a part of their investments.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

Since its inception, Pernix has not engaged in any off-balance sheet arrangements, including structured finance, special purpose entities or variable interest entities.

Effects of Inflation

Pernix does not believe that inflation has had a significant impact on its revenues or results of operations since inception.

Table Of Contents

Contractual Obligations

Contractual obligations represent future cash commitments and liabilities under agreements with third parties and exclude contingent contractual liabilities for which we cannot reasonably predict future payment, including contingencies related to potential future development, financing, royalty payments and/or scientific, regulatory, or commercial milestone payments under development agreements. Further, obligations under employment agreements contingent upon continued employment are not included in the table below. The following table summarizes our contractual obligations as of September 30, 2013 (in thousands):

	Payments Due by Period								
			L	ess than				N	More than
		Total		1 Year	1-	3 Years	3-5	Years	5 Years
Operating leases (1)	\$	705	\$	638	\$	67	\$	— \$	_
Capital leases (2)		4		4		_	_	_	_
Professional services agreements (3)		1,594		1,359		235		_	_
Supply agreements and purchase obligations									
(4)		1,010		1,010		_	_		_
Long-term debt obligations (5)		1,919		228		456		456	779
Settlement obligations (6)		3,575		825		1,500		1,000	250
Total contractual obligations	\$	8,807	\$	4,064	\$	2,258	\$	1,456 \$	1,029

- (1) Operating leases include minimum payments under leases for our facilities and certain equipment.
- (2) Capital leases include minimum payments under leases for certain manufacturing equipment at Pernix Manufacturing.
- (3) Professional service agreements include agreements with a specific term for consulting, information technology, telecom and software support, data and sales reporting tools and services.
- (4) Supply agreements and purchase obligations include fixed or minimum payments under manufacturing and supply agreements with third-party manufacturers and other providers of goods and services. The contractual obligations table set forth above does not reflect certain minimum sales requirements related to our co-promotion agreements. Our failure to satisfy minimum sales requirements under our co-promotion agreements generally allows the counterparty to terminate the agreement and/or results in a loss of our exclusivity rights. In addition to minimum sales requirements under our co-promotion agreements, the table above does not include commitments under open purchase orders for inventory that can be cancelled without penalty, which are approximately \$6.5 million.
- (5) The long-term debt obligations represent the mortgage on certain real estate assumed in the acquisition of Pernix Manufacturing.
- (6) Settlement obligations represent remaining payments due under settlement agreements.

See Notes 12, Debt, and 17, Commitments and Contingencies, to our Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, for additional information.

In addition to the material contractual cash obligations included the chart above, we have committed to make potential future milestone payments to third parties as part of licensing, distribution, acquisition and development agreements. Payments under these agreements generally become due and payable only upon achievement of certain development, regulatory and/or commercial milestones. Because the achievement of milestones is neither probable nor reasonably estimable, such contingent payments have not been recorded on our consolidated balance sheets and have not been included in the table above. See Notes 4, Business Combinations and Other Acquisitions, and 9, Intangible Assets and Goodwill, to our Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012 for additional information.

Approximately \$10.7 million in contingent consideration in connection with the acquisition of Cypress on December 31, 2012 which is subject to certain terms and conditions is not reflected in the table above. Further, See Note 6, Derivative Instruments, to our Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, for information related to the put right issued to Cypress' former shareholders in connection with the acquisition of Cypress on December 31, 2012. The put right, which expires in January 31, 2014, is exercisable during the thirty-day period immediately following the one-year anniversary date of the business acquisition, which if exercised would enable them to sell any of the shares they still hold (3,565,692 as of September 30, 2013) from the underlying 4,427,084 shares of the Company's common stock they received as part of the purchase consideration, back to us at a price of \$5.38 per share, This potential obligation is not included in the table above. We have initiated the indemnity claim process with Cypress' former shareholders to obtain financial relief under the original securities purchase agreement, which relief may offset or reduce the amounts of contingent liabilities we face relating to the Cypress acquisition. We believe that our claims are well-supported. In the event that we are unsuccessful in obtaining a satisfactory outcome with respect to such claims, including any future related litigation that may be undertaken, we may be unable to meet certain contingent obligations relating to this matter and our liquidity may be impaired.

Table Of Contents

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In July 2013, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued a clarification regarding the presentation of an unrecognized tax benefit related to a net operating loss carryforward, a similar tax loss, or a tax credit carryforward. Under this new standard, the liability related to an unrecognized tax benefit, or a portion thereof, should be presented in the financial statements as a reduction to a deferred tax asset if available under the tax law of the applicable jurisdiction to settle any additional income taxes that would result from the disallowance of a tax position. Otherwise, the unrecognized tax benefit should be presented in the financial statements as a separate liability. The assessment is based on the unrecognized tax benefit and deferred tax asset that exist at the reporting date. The provisions of the new standard are effective on a prospective basis beginning in 2014 for annual and interim reporting periods. Early 407adoption is permitted. While we are still determining the impact of this standard on the presentation of both our deferred tax assets and income taxes payable, implementation of the standard will have no impact on our consolidated statements of operations.

There have been no other recent accounting pronouncements that have not yet been adopted by us that are expected to have a material impact on our condensed consolidated financial statements from the accounting pronouncements previously disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012.

ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Credit Agreement with MidCap Funding

On May 8, 2013, we, together with our subsidiaries, entered into the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement or the Restated Credit Agreement, with MidCap Financial, LLC, as Administrative Agent and as a lender, and additional lenders from time to time party thereto. The Restated Credit Agreement amends and restates in its entirety the Original Credit Agreement.

The Restated Credit Agreement provides for a term loan of \$10 million and a revolving loan commitment of \$20 million. In connection with the entry into the Restated Credit Agreement, we prepaid approximately \$12 million of the term loan that had been previously outstanding under the Original Credit Agreement. Under the Restated Credit Agreement, our borrowing base on the revolving loan commitment is equal to (A) 85% of eligible accounts, plus (B) 50% of eligible inventory, minus (C) certain reserves and/or adjustments, subject to certain conditions and limitations. The revolving loan will be paid based on the Company's cash receipts. In addition, we are able to voluntarily prepay outstanding amounts under the revolving loan commitment at any time, subject to certain prepayment penalties.

The loans under this facility bear interest at a rate equal to the sum of the LIBOR rate (with a floor of 1.5%) plus an applicable margin of 7.50% per annum (9.0% on September 30, 2013). To calculate the potential impact related to interest rate risk, we performed a sensitivity analysis at September 30, 2013 based on the maximum available under the revolver under the Restated Credit Agreement of approximately \$20.0 million. A 10% increase in our LIBOR floor would result in additional interest expense of approximately \$1,434,000, net of tax.

See Note 12, Debt, and Note 18, Subsequent Events, to our Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012 for further discussion.

Put Right

In consideration for our acquisition of all of the outstanding share capital of Cypress Pharmaceuticals, Inc. on December 31, 2012, we paid \$52 million in cash, issued 4,427,084 shares of common stock having an aggregate market value equal to approximately \$34.3 million (based on the closing price per share of \$7.75 as reported on the

NYSE MKT LLC on December 31, 2012), and agreed to pay up to \$6.5 million in holdback and contingent payments, \$4.5 million to be deposited in escrow on December 15, 2013 and \$5.0 million in shares of our common stock upon the occurrence of a milestone event, for an aggregate purchase price of up to \$102.3 million. We also granted a put right to the sellers pursuant to which the sellers may put the shares issued at the closing of the acquisition to us at approximately \$5.38 per share, representing 70% of the volume weighted average trading price of our common stock for the 30 trading days prior to November 13, 2012, with such put right being exercisable from January 1, 2014 to January 31, 2014. The fair value of the put right was \$9.5 million as of September 30, 2013, calculated using a Black-Scholes valuation model with assumptions for the following variables: term, closing Pernix stock price on September 30, 2013, risk-free interest rates and expected volatility (with the volatility factor being the input subject to the most variation). We are exposed to market risk in regards to the rate and magnitude of change of our stock price and corresponding variations to the volatility factor used in the Black-Scholes valuation model. We evaluated this risk by estimating the potential adverse impact of a 10% increase in the volatility factor and determined that such a change in the volatility factor would have resulted in an approximate \$16,000 increase to the put right liability and a corresponding reduction to pre-tax income (loss) for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013.

Table Of Contents

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our Exchange Act reports is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC's rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and our Principal Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

As of September 30, 2013, we evaluated, under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer, the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(e)). Management concluded that as of September 30, 2013, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective.

There has been no change in our internal control over financial reporting during our most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Table Of Contents

PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

See Legal Matters under Note 17 to our Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012 contained in Part I, Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

There have been no material changes from the risk factors previously disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012 and our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the three months ended March 31, 2013 except as detailed below:

We may not be able to continue to grow through acquisitions.

We have sought growth largely through acquisitions, including the acquisitions of Macoven in 2010, GSL and Cypress in 2012 and Somaxon in 2013. Effective December 31, 2012, we entered into a term loan credit facility in connection with our acquisition of Cypress consisting of a term loan and a revolving loan commitment. This credit facility was amended and restated in May 2013. Pursuant to the terms of the amended and restated credit agreement, the closing of our sale of assets to Breckinridge triggered a requirement by us to repay the term loan. At the closing, we paid approximately \$7.7 million to the lender in fulfillment of this requirement, and as a result, the term loan has been repaid in full. However, the credit agreement includes restrictive covenants for a secured credit facility, which include, among other things, restrictions on the incurrence of indebtedness, as well as certain consolidations, acquisitions, mergers, purchases or sales of assets and capital expenditures, subject to certain exceptions and permissions limited in scope and dollar value. In addition to these restrictive covenants our credit facility contains financial covenants that are significantly more onerous than those contained in our prior credit facility. For additional information, see Note 12, Debt, to our Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012.

In the future, we may pursue growth opportunities through acquisitions that are not directly similar to those currently operated by us. We cannot assure you that acquisitions will be available on terms attractive to us. Moreover, we cannot assure you that such acquisitions will be permissible under our existing term loan credit facility or that we will be able to arrange financing on terms acceptable to us or to obtain timely federal and state governmental approvals on terms acceptable to us, or at all.

If the former stockholders of Cypress exercise their put rights, our business and financial condition may be materially adversely affected.

On December 31, 2012, we completed the acquisition of Cypress Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a generic pharmaceutical company, and its subsidiary Hawthorn Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a branded pharmaceutical company, both of which were privately owned companies, collectively referred to herein as Cypress. We paid \$52 million in cash, issued 4,427,084 shares of our common stock having an aggregate market value equal to approximately \$34.3 million based on the closing price per share of \$7.75 as reported on the NYSE MKT LLC on December 31, 2012, and agreed to pay up to \$6.5 million in holdback and contingent payments, \$4.5 million to be deposited in escrow on December 15, 2013 and \$5.0 million in shares of our common stock upon the occurrence of a milestone event, for an aggregate purchase price of up to \$102.3 million. We also granted a put right to the sellers pursuant to which the sellers may put the shares issued at the closing of the acquisition to us at approximately \$5.38 per share, representing 70% of the volume weighted average trading price of our common stock for the 30 trading days prior to November 13, 2012, with such put right being exercisable from January 1, 2014 to January 31, 2014. As of November 8, 2013, the closing price of our common stock as reported on Nasdaq was \$2.81.

We currently do not have sufficient cash available to repurchase the shares in the event that the put rights are exercised and we acknowledge validity. Currently, there are 3,565,692 shares subject to this put right. We have initiated the indemnity claim process with the Cypress selling stockholders to obtain financial relief under the original securities purchase agreement, which relief may offset or reduce the amounts of contingent liabilities we face relating to the Cypress acquisition. We believe that our claims are well-supported. In the event that we are unsuccessful in obtaining a satisfactory outcome with respect to such claims, including any future related litigation that may be undertaken, we may be unable to meet certain contingent obligations relating to this matter and our liquidity may be impaired.

Table Of Contents

In the event the put rights are exercised with respect to some or all of the stock issued to the former holders of Cypress and we lack the necessary capital to repurchase these shares and to thereafter meet future capital requirements and operating expenses, we may seek to raise additional capital through public or private equity or debt financings, strategic relationships, including the divestiture of non-core assets, assigning receivables, milestone payments or royalty rights, or other arrangements and we cannot assure such funding will be available on reasonable terms, or at all. Additional equity financing will be dilutive to stockholders, and debt financing, if available, may involve restrictive covenants. Any exploration of strategic alternatives may not result in an agreement or transaction and, if completed, any agreement or transaction may not be successful or on attractive terms. The inability to enter into a strategic transaction, or a strategic transaction that is not successful or on attractive terms, could accelerate our need for cash and make securing funding on reasonable terms more difficult. In addition, if we raise additional funds through collaborations or other strategic transactions, it may be necessary to relinquish potentially valuable rights to our potential products or proprietary technologies, or grant licenses on terms that are not favorable to us. The exercise of any of these put rights may have a material adverse effect on our business and financial condition, including our liquidity and capital resources.

Our business operations and financial position could be adversely affected as a result of the debt incurred in connection with our acquisition of Cypress and any future borrowings.

Effective December 31, 2012, we entered into a \$42 million term credit facility with MidCap Funding V, LLC, as administrative agent, as a lender and as co-bookrunner and sole lead arranger, Business Development Corporation of America, as co-bookrunner, and additional lenders from time to time party thereto. The proceeds of this loan were used to fund a portion of the purchase price for our acquisition of Cypress on December 31, 2012.

On May 8, 2013, we entered into an amended and restated credit facility with our lenders. The restated credit agreement provides for a term loan of \$10 million and a revolving loan commitment of \$20 million. In connection with our entry into the restated credit agreement, we prepaid approximately \$12 million of the term loan that had been previously outstanding under the original credit agreement. Under the restated credit agreement, our borrowing base on the revolving loan commitment is equal to (A) 85% of eligible accounts, plus (B) 50% of eligible inventory, minus (C) certain reserves and/or adjustments, subject to certain conditions and limitations. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the restated credit agreement provided for an advance of up to \$3 million in excess of our borrowing base until June 8, 2013, at which time we repaid the \$3 million excess amount.

Under the restated credit agreement, we are required to make monthly repayments on the term loan beginning on November 7, 2013 and ending on May 8, 2016, when all remaining principal is due and payable. The revolving loan will be paid based on our cash receipts. In addition, we are able to voluntarily prepay outstanding amounts under the revolving loan commitment at any time, subject to certain prepayment penalties. Pursuant to the terms of the restated credit agreement, the closing of our sale of assets to Breckinridge triggered a requirement by us to repay the term loan. At the closing, we paid approximately \$7.7 million to the lender in fulfillment of this requirement, and as a result, the term loan has been repaid in full. As of September 30, 2013, the outstanding balance under our revolving loan commitment was \$13.7 million.

Unlike the original credit agreement, the restated credit agreement does not include covenants limiting capital expenditures or requiring us to maintain a fixed charge coverage ratio and leverage ratio, but rather contains covenants requiring us to maintain a minimum amount of EBITDA and net invoiced revenues. For additional information on the financial and other restrictive covenants required by our restated credit facility, see Note 12, Debt, to our Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012.

As a result of our entry into our restated credit facility, we have leveraged significant amount of debt. This could have material adverse consequences for us, including (i) limiting the amount of free cash flow available for future

operations, acquisitions, dividends, stock repurchases or other uses, (ii) hindering our ability to adjust to changing market, industry or economic conditions, (iii) limiting our ability to access the capital markets to fund acquisitions, (iv) raising our borrowing costs, (v) making us more vulnerable to economic or industry downturns, including interest rate increases and (vi) placing us at a competitive disadvantage compared to less-leveraged competitors. In addition, an event of default under our restated credit agreement could result in all or a portion of our outstanding debt thereunder to become immediately due and payable. If this occurs, we might not be able to obtain waivers or secure alternative financing to satisfy all of our obligations simultaneously, which may force us to seek bankruptcy protection.

As of November 8, 2013, we believe that our existing cash and cash from operations will be sufficient to continue to fund our existing level of operating expense, certain planned development activities and general capital expenditure requirements through the first quarter of 2014 based on our additional opportunities to recognize synergistic savings from our acquisitions, our ability to pace our research and development spend as available capital permits and the potential to sell non-core assets. In the event our capital resources are otherwise insufficient to meet future capital requirements and operating expenses, we may seek to finance our cash needs through public or private equity or debt financings, strategic relationships, including the divestiture of non-core assets, assigning receivables, milestone payments or royalty rights, or other arrangements. Securing additional financing will require a substantial amount of time and attention from our management and may divert a disproportionate amount of its attention away from our day-to-day activities, which may adversely affect our management's ability to conduct our day-to-day operations. In addition, we cannot guarantee that future financing will be available in sufficient amounts or on terms acceptable to us, if at all. If we are unable to raise additional capital when required or on acceptable terms, we may be required to:

Significantly delay, scale back or discontinue the development or commercialization of our products and product candidates;

Seek collaborators for one or more of our current or future products or product candidates at an earlier stage than otherwise would be desirable or on terms that are less favorable than might otherwise be available; or Relinquish or license on unfavorable terms, our rights to technologies or product candidates that we otherwise would seek to develop or commercialize ourselves.

Table Of Contents

Additional equity or debt financing, or corporate collaboration and licensing arrangements, may not be permissible under our restated credit agreement or otherwise available on acceptable terms, if at all. Additional equity financing will be dilutive to stockholders, and debt financing, if available, may involve restrictive covenants. Any exploration of strategic alternatives may not result in an agreement or transaction and, if completed, any agreement or transaction may not be successful or on attractive terms. The inability to enter into a strategic transaction, or a strategic transaction that is not successful or on attractive terms, could accelerate our need for cash and make securing funding on reasonable terms more difficult. In addition, if we raise additional funds through collaborations or other strategic transactions, it may be necessary to relinquish potentially valuable rights to our potential products or proprietary technologies, or grant licenses on terms that are not favorable to us.

If we are unable to obtain and maintain protection for the intellectual property relating to our technology and products, the value of our technology and products will be adversely affected.

Our success will depend in part on our ability to obtain and maintain protection for the intellectual property covering or incorporated into our technology and products. The patent situation in the field of pharmaceuticals is highly uncertain and involves complex legal and scientific questions. We rely upon patents, trade secret laws and confidentiality agreements to protect our technology and products. We may not be able to obtain additional patent rights relating to our technology or products and pending patent applications to which we have rights may not issue as patents or if issued, may not issue in a form that will be advantageous to us. Even if issued, any patents issued to us or licensed to us may be challenged, narrowed, invalidated, held to be unenforceable or circumvented, which could limit our ability to stop competitors from marketing similar products or limit the length of term of patent protection we may have for our products. For example, the principal patent protection that covers SILENOR consists of method of use patents. This type of patent protects the product only when used or sold for the specified method. However, this type of patent does not limit a competitor from making and marketing a product that is identical or similar to SILENOR for an indication that is outside of the patented method. Moreover, physicians may prescribe such a competitive or similar identical product for off-label indications that are covered by the applicable patents. Some physicians are prescribing generic 10mg doxepin capsules and generic oral solution doxepin for insomnia on such an off-label basis in lieu of prescribing SILENOR. In addition, some managed healthcare plans are requiring the substitution of these generic doxepin products for SILENOR, and some pharmacies are suggesting such substitution. Although such off-label prescriptions may induce or contribute to the infringement of method of use patents, the practice is common and such infringement is difficult to prevent or prosecute.

Our patent rights also may not afford us protection against competitors with similar technology. Because patent applications in the United States and many other jurisdictions are typically not published until 18 months after filing, or in some cases not at all, and because publications of discoveries in the scientific literature often lag behind actual discoveries, neither we nor our licensors can be certain that we or they were the first to make the inventions claimed in our or their issued patents or pending patent applications, or that we or they were the first to file for protection of the inventions set forth in these patent applications. If a third party has also filed a U.S. patent application covering our product candidates or a similar invention, we may have to participate in an adversarial proceeding, known as an interference, declared by the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office to determine priority of invention in the United States. The costs of these proceedings could be substantial and it is possible that our efforts could be unsuccessful, resulting in a loss of our U.S. patent position. In addition, patents generally expire, regardless of the date of issue, 20 years from the earliest non-provisional effective U.S. filing date.

Our collaborators and licensors may not adequately protect our intellectual property rights. These third parties may have the first right to maintain or defend our intellectual property rights and, although we may have the right to assume the maintenance and defense of our intellectual property rights if these third parties do not, our ability to maintain and defend our intellectual property rights may be compromised by the acts or omissions of these third parties.

In September 2011, the Leahy-Smith America Invents Act, or the Leahy-Smith Act, was signed into law and includes a number of significant changes to U.S. patent law. These include changes in the way patent applications will be prosecuted and may also affect patent litigation. The U.S. Patent and Trademark Office is currently developing regulations and procedures to administer the Leahy-Smith Act, and many of the substantive changes to patent law associated with the Leahy-Smith Act will not become effective until 18 months after its enactment. Accordingly, it is not clear what, if any, impact the Leahy-Smith Act will have on the cost of prosecuting our patent applications, our ability to obtain patents based on our patent applications and our ability to enforce or defend our issued patents. An inability to obtain, enforce and defend patents covering our proprietary technologies would materially and adversely affect our business prospects and financial condition. Further, the laws of some foreign countries do not protect proprietary rights to the same extent as the laws of the United States. As a result, we may encounter significant problems in protecting and defending our intellectual property both in the United States and abroad. If we are unable to prevent material disclosure of the intellectual property related to our technologies to third parties, we will not be able to establish or, if established, maintain a competitive advantage in our market, which could materially adversely affect our business, operating results and financial condition.

Table Of Contents

If we fail to attract and retain key personnel, we may be unable to successfully develop or commercialize our products.

Our success depends in part on our continued ability to attract, retain and motivate highly qualified managerial personnel. We are highly dependent upon our executive management team, particularly Michael C. Pearce, our Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer, and Cooper C. Collins, our Chief Strategic Officer. The loss of the services of any one or more of the members of our executive management team or other key personnel could delay or prevent the successful completion of some of our development and commercialization objectives.

Recruiting and retaining qualified sales and marketing personnel is critical to our success. We may not be able to attract and retain these personnel on acceptable terms given the competition among numerous pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies for similar personnel. In addition, we rely on consultants and advisors, including scientific and clinical advisors, to assist us in formulating our development and commercialization strategy. Our consultants and advisors may be employed by employers other than us and may have commitments under consulting or advisory contracts with other entities that may limit their availability to us.

If we are unable to attract, hire and retain qualified sales and management personnel and successfully manage our sales and marketing programs and resources, or if our commercial partners do not adequately perform, the commercial opportunity for our products may be diminished.

As of November 8, 2013, our sales force consisted of approximately 102 full-time sales representatives. In addition, in October 2013 we entered into a co-promotion agreement with Cumberland Pharmaceuticals, Inc., or Cumberland, under which Cumberland will promote Omeclamox-Pak to gastroenterologists across the United States through its field sales force.

We, Cumberland and any other commercialization partner we engage may not be able to attract, hire, train and retain qualified sales and sales management personnel in the future. If we or they are not successful in maintaining an effective number of qualified sales personnel, our ability to effectively market and promote our products may be impaired. Even if we are able to effectively maintain such sales personnel, their efforts may not be successful in commercializing our products.

In addition, a significant portion of revenues we receive from sales of products that are the subject to commercial partnerships will largely depend upon the efforts our partners, including Cumberland. The efforts of our partners in many instances are likely to be outside our control. If we are unable to maintain our commercial partnerships or to effectively establish alternative arrangements for our products, our business could be adversely affected. In addition, despite our arrangements with Cumberland and our other partners, we still may not be able to cover all of the prescribing physicians for our products at the same level of reach and frequency as our competitors, and we ultimately may need to further expand our selling efforts in order to effectively compete.

The efforts of our sales force and partners are complemented by on-line and other non-personal promotional initiatives that target both physicians and patients. We are also focused on ensuring broad patient access to our products by negotiating agreements with leading commercial managed care organizations and with government payors. Although our goal is to achieve sales through the efficient execution of our sales and marketing plans and programs, we may not be able to effectively generate prescriptions and achieve broad market acceptance for our products on a timely basis, or at all.

If we infringe or are alleged to infringe intellectual property rights of third parties, it may adversely affect our business.

Our development and commercialization activities, as well as any product candidates or products resulting from these activities, may infringe or be claimed to infringe one or more claims of an issued patent or may fall within the scope of one or more claims in a published patent application that may be subsequently issued and to which we do not hold a license or other rights. Third parties may own or control these patents or patent applications in the United States and/or abroad. Such third parties could bring claims against us or our collaborators that would cause us to incur substantial expenses and, if successful against us, could cause us to pay substantial damages. Further, if a patent infringement suit were brought against us or our collaborators, we or our collaborators could be forced to stop or delay development, manufacturing or sales of the product or product candidate that is the subject of the suit.

On January 19, 2012, plaintiffs, Merck & Cie, South Alabama Medical Science Foundation and Pamlab, L.L.C. filed suit seeking unspecified damages and injunctive relief against our wholly owned subsidiary, Macoven Pharmaceuticals, for infringement of U.S. Patent Nos. 5,997,915, 6,254,904, 6,673,381, 7,172,778, 7,674,490 and 6,011,040 based on Macoven's commercialization of the following products: Vitaciric-B; ALZ-NAC; L-methylfolate PNV; L-methylfolate calcium 7.5mg; and L-methylfolate calcium 15mg. Macoven filed responsive pleadings denying liability for infringement and filed counter claims for non-infringement and patent invalidity. As a result of the settlement and termination of the ITC investigation described below, this suit was dismissed on June 12, 2013.

Table Of Contents

On September 10, 2012, plaintiffs, Merck & Cie, South Alabama Medical Science Foundation and Pamlab, L.L.C., filed a complaint with the ITC under Section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930, as amended, against Macoven for infringement of U.S. Patent Nos. 5,997,915, 6,673,381, 7,172,778 and 6,011,040 based on Macoven's commercialization of the following products: Vitaciric-B; ALZ-NAC; and L-methylfolate calcium. The ITC initiated an investigation on October 10, 2012. Macoven filed a response, denying liability for patent infringement and asserting patent invalidity as a defense. Macoven entered into a settlement agreement with the plaintiffs on May 23, 2013, and as a result, the administrative law judge granted the plaintiffs' and Macoven's joint motion to terminate this case on June 11, 2013. On July 12, 2013, the ITC determined to not review the termination. Pursuant to the settlement agreement, Macoven has agreed, among other things, to no longer market and sell the disputed products.

If any relevant claims of third-party patents that we are alleged to infringe are upheld as valid and enforceable in any litigation or administrative proceeding, we or our potential future collaborators could be prevented from practicing the subject matter claimed in such patents, or would be required to obtain licenses from the patent owners of each such patent, or to redesign our products, and could be liable for monetary damages. There can be no assurance that such licenses would be available or, if available, would be available on acceptable terms or that we would be successful in any attempt to redesign our products. Even if we or our collaborators were able to obtain a license, the rights may be nonexclusive, which could result in our competitors gaining access to the same intellectual property. Ultimately, we could be prevented from commercializing a product, or be forced to cease some aspect of our business operations, if, as a result of actual or threatened patent infringement claims, we or our collaborators are unable to enter into licenses on acceptable terms. This could harm our business significantly. Accordingly, an adverse determination in a judicial or administrative proceeding or failure to obtain necessary licenses could prevent us or our future collaborators from manufacturing and selling our products, which would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

There has been substantial litigation and other proceedings regarding patent and other intellectual property rights in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries. In addition to infringement claims, we may become a party to other patent litigation and other proceedings. The cost to us of any patent litigation or other proceeding, even if resolved in our favor, could be substantial. Some of our competitors may be able to sustain the costs of such litigation or proceedings more effectively than we can because of their substantially greater financial resources. Uncertainties resulting from the initiation and continuation of patent litigation or other proceedings could have a material adverse effect on our ability to compete in the marketplace. Patent litigation and other proceedings may also absorb significant management time.

We may need substantial additional funding and may be unable to raise capital when needed, which would force us to delay, reduce or eliminate our product development programs, commercialization efforts or acquisition strategy.

We make significant investments in our currently-marketed products for sales, marketing, and distribution. We have used, and expect to continue to use, revenue from sales of our marketed products to fund acquisitions, for development costs and to establish and expand our sales and marketing infrastructure. We have incurred losses from operations and negative operating cash flows since our inception, and we expect to continue to incur substantial losses for the foreseeable future.

In addition, we face the potential for significant cash outflows in the near term based on the contingent consideration and put rights related to our acquisition of Cypress. We have initiated the indemnity claim process with the Cypress selling stockholders to obtain financial relief under the original securities purchase agreement, which relief may offset or reduce the amounts of contingent liabilities we face relating to the Cypress acquisition. We believe that our claims are well-supported. In the event that we are unsuccessful in obtaining a satisfactory outcome with respect to such claims, including any future related litigation that may be undertaken, we may be unable to meet certain contingent obligations relating to this matter and our liquidity may be impaired.

As of November 8, 2013, we had approximately \$14.3 million of cash and cash equivalents and \$4.5 million of potential availability under our revolving line of credit. We believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents and available credit and revenue from product sales will be sufficient to enable us to fund our existing level of operating expense, certain planned development activities and general capital expenditure requirements through the first quarter of 2014 based on our additional opportunities to recognize synergistic savings from our acquisitions, our ability to pace our research and development spend as available capital permits and the potential to sell non-core assets. Our future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including:

our ability to successfully integrate the operations of Cypress and Somaxon;

the level of product sales from our currently marketed products and any additional products that we may market in the future;

our ability to successfully offset or reduce the contingent payments and put right related obligations to the former Cypress stockholders through the indemnity claims process or otherwise;

the extent to which we acquire or invest in products, businesses and technologies; the scope, progress, results and costs of clinical development activities for our product candidates; the costs, timing and outcome of regulatory review of our product candidates;

Table Of Contents

the number of, and development requirements for, additional product candidates that we pursue; the costs of commercialization activities, including product marketing, sales and distribution; the extent to which we choose to establish additional collaboration, co-promotion, distribution or other similar arrangements for our products and product candidates; and the costs of preparing, filing and prosecuting patent applications and maintaining, enforcing and defending intellectual property-related claims.

We intend to obtain any additional funding we require through public or private equity or debt financings, strategic relationships, including the divestiture of non-core assets, assigning receivables, milestone payments or royalty rights, or other arrangements and we cannot assure such funding will be available on reasonable terms, or at all. Additional equity financing will be dilutive to stockholders, and debt financing, if available, may involve restrictive covenants. Any exploration of strategic alternatives may not result in an agreement or transaction and, if completed, any agreement or transaction may not be successful or on attractive terms. The inability to enter into a strategic transaction, or a strategic transaction that is not successful or on attractive terms, could accelerate our need for cash and make securing funding on reasonable terms more difficult. In addition, if we raise additional funds through collaborations or other strategic transactions, it may be necessary to relinquish potentially valuable rights to our potential products or proprietary technologies, or grant licenses on terms that are not favorable to us.

We have an effective shelf registration statement on Form S-3 filed with the SEC under which we may offer from time to time any combination of debt securities, common and preferred stock and warrants. However, the rules and regulations of the SEC or other regulatory agencies may restrict our ability to conduct certain types of financing activities, or may affect the timing of and the amounts we can raise by undertaking such activities. For example, under current SEC regulations, because the aggregate market value of our common stock held by non-affiliates, or our public float is less than \$75 million, the amount that we can raise through primary public offerings of securities in any twelve-month period using one or more registration statements on Form S-3 is limited to an aggregate of one-third of our public float.

If our efforts in raising additional funds when needed are unsuccessful, we may be required to delay, scale-back or eliminate plans or programs relating to our business, relinquish some or all rights to our products or renegotiate less favorable terms with respect to such rights than we would otherwise choose or cease operating as a going concern. In addition, if we do not meet our payment obligations to third parties as they come due, we may be subject to litigation claims. Even if we were successful in defending against these potential claims, litigation could result in substantial costs and be a distraction to management, and may result in unfavorable results that could further adversely impact our financial condition.

If we are unable to continue as a going concern, we may have to liquidate our assets and may receive less than the value at which those assets are carried on our financial statements, and it is likely that investors will lose all or a part of their investments.

If we fail to meet all applicable continued listing requirements of the NASDAQ Global Market and it determines to delist our common stock, the market liquidity and market price of our common stock could decline.

On January 16, 2013, we received approval from the NASDAQ Stock Market to transfer our common stock listing from NYSE MKT LLC to the NASDAQ Global Market effective January 28, 2013. On June 7, 2013, we received a letter from NASDAQ indicating that at that time we failed to comply with the audit committee composition requirement for continued listing set forth in NASDAQ Marketplace Rule 5605, which requires that the Audit Committee be comprised of at least three independent directors. This was due to the resignation on May 10, 2013 of Michael Pearce as a member of the Audit Committee upon his appointment as our Chief Executive Officer since he was no longer considered independent for purposes of serving on the Audit Committee. In accordance with

NASDAQ Marketplace Rule 5605, the NASDAQ Stock Market LLC provided us with a cure period to regain compliance until November 6, 2013. We regained compliance with this requirement on November 4, 2013 by appointing James E. Smith, Jr., a director who meets all independence requirements of NASDAQ and the SEC, as a member of the Audit Committee.

If we fail to meet all applicable listing requirements of the NASDAQ Global Market and it determines to delist our common stock, trading, if any, in our shares may continue to be conducted on the Over-the-Counter Bulletin Board or in a non-NASDAQ over-the-counter market, such as the "pink sheets." Delisting of our shares would result in limited release of the market price of those shares and limited analyst coverage and could restrict investors' interest and confidence in our securities. Also, a delisting could have a material adverse effect on the trading market and prices for our shares and our ability to issue additional securities or to secure additional financing. In addition, if our shares were not listed and the trading price of our shares was less than \$5.00 per share, our shares could be subject to Rule 15g-9 under the Exchange Act which, among other things, requires that broker/dealers satisfy special sales practice requirements, including making individualized written suitability determinations and receiving a purchaser's written consent prior to any transaction. In such case, our securities could also be deemed to be a "penny stock" under the Securities Enforcement and Penny Stock Reform Act of 1990, which would require additional disclosure in connection with trades in those shares, including the delivery of a disclosure schedule explaining the nature and risks of the penny stock market. Such requirements could severely limit the liquidity of our securities and our ability to raise additional capital in an already challenging capital market.

Table Of Contents

Insiders have substantial control over the Company and could delay or prevent a change in corporate control, including a transaction in which the Company's stockholders could sell or exchange their shares for a premium.

As of November 8, 2013, our directors and executive officers together with their affiliates beneficially own, in the aggregate, approximately 43.5% of our common stock. As a result, our directors and executive officers, together with their affiliates, if acting together, have the ability to affect the outcome of matters submitted to stockholders for approval, including the election and removal of directors and any merger, consolidation or sale of all or substantially all of our assets. In addition, these persons, acting together, will have the ability to control our management and affairs. The interests of this group of stockholders may not always coincide with our interests or the interests of other stockholders, and they may act in a manner that advances their best interests and not necessarily those of other stockholders. Additionally, this concentration of ownership may harm the value of our common stock by:

delaying, deferring or preventing a change in control; impeding a merger, consolidation, takeover or other business combination; or discouraging a potential acquirer from making an acquisition proposal or otherwise attempting to obtain control.

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market by our existing stockholders could cause our stock price to fall.

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market or the perception that these sales might occur, could depress the market price of our common stock and could impair our ability to raise capital through the sale of additional equity securities. We are unable to predict the effect that sales may have on the prevailing market price of our common stock.

Our relationships with customers and payors are subject to applicable fraud and abuse and other healthcare laws and regulations, which could expose us to criminal sanctions, civil penalties, contractual damages, reputation harm, and diminished profits and future earnings.

Healthcare providers, physicians and others play a primary role in the recommendation and prescription of our products. Our arrangements with third-party payors and customers may expose us to broadly applicable fraud and abuse and other healthcare laws and regulation that may constrain the business or financial arrangements and relationships through which we market, sell and distribute our products. Applicable federal and state healthcare laws and regulations, include but are not limited to, the following:

the federal healthcare anti-kickback statute prohibits, among other things, persons from knowingly and willfully soliciting, offering, receiving or providing remuneration, directly or indirectly, in cash or in kind, to induce or reward either the referral of an individual for, or the purchase, order or recommendation of, any good or service, for which payment may be made under federal healthcare programs such as Medicare and Medicaid; the Ethics in Patient Referrals Act, commonly referred to as the Stark Law, and its corresponding regulations, prohibit physicians from referring patients for designated health services reimbursed under the Medicare and Medicaid programs to entities with which the physicians or their immediate family members have a financial relationship or an ownership interest, subject to narrow regulatory exceptions;

the federal False Claims Act imposes criminal and civil penalties, including civil whistleblower or qui tam actions, against individuals or entities for knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented, to the federal government, claims for payment that are false or fraudulent or making a false statement to avoid, decrease, or conceal an obligation to pay money to the federal government;

the federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, or HIPAA, imposes criminal and civil liability for executing a scheme to defraud any healthcare benefit program and also imposes obligations, including mandatory contractual terms, with respect to safeguarding the privacy, security and transmission of

individually identifiable health information;

the federal false statements statute prohibits knowingly and willfully falsifying, concealing or covering up a material fact or making any materially false statement in connection with the delivery of or payment for healthcare benefits, items or services; and

analogous state laws and regulations, such as state anti-kickback and false claims laws, may apply to sales or marketing arrangements and claims involving healthcare items or services reimbursed by non-governmental third party payors, including private insurers, and some state laws require pharmaceutical companies to comply with the pharmaceutical industry's voluntary compliance guidelines and the relevant compliance guidance promulgated by the federal government.

Table Of Contents

In March 2010, the President signed the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, or PPACA, which makes extensive changes to the delivery of healthcare in the U.S. This act includes numerous provisions that affect pharmaceutical companies, some of which were effective immediately and others of which will be taking effect over the next several years. For example, the act seeks to expand healthcare coverage to the uninsured through private health insurance reforms and an expansion of Medicaid. The act also imposes substantial costs on pharmaceutical manufacturers, such as an increase in liability for rebates paid to Medicaid, new drug discounts that must be offered to certain enrollees in the Medicare prescription drug benefit, an annual fee imposed on all manufacturers of brand prescription drugs in the U.S., increased disclosure obligations and an expansion of an existing program requiring pharmaceutical discounts to certain types of hospitals and federally subsidized clinics. The act also contains cost-containment measures that could reduce reimbursement levels for healthcare items and services generally, including pharmaceuticals. It also will require reporting and public disclosure of payments and other transfers of value provided by pharmaceutical companies to physicians and teaching hospitals. These measures could result in decreased net revenues from our pharmaceutical products and decreased potential returns from our development efforts. Although the PPACA was recently upheld by the U.S. Supreme Court, it is possible that the PPACA may be modified or repealed in the future.

In addition, there have been a number of other legislative and regulatory proposals aimed at changing the pharmaceutical industry. These include proposals to permit reimportation of pharmaceutical products from other countries and proposals concerning safety matters. For example, in an attempt to protect against counterfeiting and diversion of drugs, a bill was introduced in a previous Congress that would establish an electronic drug pedigree and track-and-trace system capable of electronically recording and authenticating every sale of a drug unit throughout the distribution chain. This bill or a similar bill may be introduced in Congress in the future. California has already enacted legislation that requires development of an electronic pedigree to track and trace each prescription drug at the saleable unit level through the distribution system. California's electronic pedigree requirement is scheduled to take effect beginning in January 2015. Compliance with California and any future federal or state electronic pedigree requirements will likely require an increase in our operational expenses and will likely be administratively burdensome. As a result of these and other new proposals, we may determine to change our current manner of operation, provide additional benefits or change our contract arrangements, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We, as well as many other pharmaceutical companies, sponsor prescription drug coupons and other cost-savings programs to help reduce the burden of co-payments and co-insurance. During 2012, lawsuits have been filed against several pharmaceutical companies alleging, among other things, that the drug-makers violated anti-trust laws and the Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act, or RICO, when they provided coupon programs to privately-insured consumers that subsidize all or part of the cost-sharing obligation (co-pay or co-insurance) for a branded prescription drug or drugs. We cannot be certain as to whether we will be named in any future similar lawsuit or concerning the potential outcome of the ongoing litigation.

Efforts to ensure that our business arrangements with third parties comply with applicable healthcare laws and regulations could be costly. It is possible that governmental authorities will conclude that our business practices may not comply with current or future statutes, regulations or case law involving applicable fraud and abuse or other healthcare laws and regulations. If our past or present operations, including activities conducted by our sales team or agents, are found to be in violation of any of these laws or any other governmental regulations that may apply to us, we may be subject to significant civil, criminal and administrative penalties, damages, fines, exclusion from third-party payor programs, such as Medicare and Medicaid, and the curtailment or restructuring of our operations. If any of the physicians or other providers or entities with whom we do business are found to be not in compliance with applicable laws, they may be subject to criminal, civil or administrative sanctions, including exclusions from government funded healthcare programs.

Many aspects of these laws have not been definitively interpreted by the regulatory authorities or the courts, and their provisions are open to a variety of subjective interpretations, which increases the risk of potential violations. In addition, these laws and their interpretations are subject to change. Any action against us for violation of these laws, even if we successfully defend against it, could cause us to incur significant legal expenses, divert our management's attention from the operation of our business and damage our reputation.

Our sales depend on payment and reimbursement from third-party payors, and a reduction in the payment rate or reimbursement could result in decreased use or sales of our products.

Our sales of currently marketed products are, and any future sales of our product candidates will be, dependent, in part, on the availability of coverage and reimbursement from third-party payors, including government health care programs such as Medicare and Medicaid, and private insurance plans. All of our products are generally covered by managed care and private insurance plans. Generally, the status or tier within managed care formularies, which are lists of approved products developed by MCOs, varies but coverage is similar to other products within the same class of drugs. For example, CEDAX is covered by private insurance plans similar to other marketed, branded cephalosporins. However, the position of any of our branded products that requires a higher patient copayment may make it more difficult to expand the current market share for such product. In some cases, MCOs may require additional evidence that a patient had previously failed another therapy, additional paperwork or prior authorization from the MCO before approving reimbursement for a branded product. Some Medicare Part D plans also cover some or all of our products, but the amount and level of coverage varies from plan to plan. We also participate in the Medicaid Drug Rebate program with the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services and submit all of our products for inclusion in this program. Coverage of our products under individual state Medicaid plans varies from state to state. Additionally, some of our products are purchased under the 340B Drug Pricing Program, which is codified as Section 340B of the Public Health Service Act. Section 340B limits the cost of covered outpatient drugs to certain federal grantees, federally qualified health center look-alikes and qualified disproportionate share hospitals.

Table Of Contents

There have been, there are and we expect there will continue to be federal and state legislative and administrative proposals that could limit the amount that government health care programs will pay to reimburse the cost of pharmaceutical and biologic products. For example, the Medicare Prescription Drug Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003, or the MMA, created a new Medicare benefit for prescription drugs. More recently, the Deficit Reduction Act of 2005 significantly reduced reimbursement for drugs under the Medicaid program. Legislative or administrative acts that reduce reimbursement for our products could adversely impact our business.

In March 2010, the President signed the PPACA, which makes extensive changes to the delivery of healthcare in the U.S. This act includes numerous provisions that affect pharmaceutical companies, some of which were effective immediately and others of which will be taking effect over the next several years. For example, the act seeks to expand healthcare coverage to the uninsured through private health insurance reforms and an expansion of Medicaid. The act also imposes substantial costs on pharmaceutical manufacturers, such as an increase in liability for rebates paid to Medicaid, new drug discounts that must be offered to certain enrollees in the Medicare prescription drug benefit, an annual fee imposed on all manufacturers of brand prescription drugs in the U.S., increased disclosure obligations and an expansion of an existing program requiring pharmaceutical discounts to certain types of hospitals and federally subsidized clinics. The act also contains cost-containment measures that could reduce reimbursement levels for healthcare items and services generally, including pharmaceuticals. It also will require reporting and public disclosure of payments and other transfers of value provided by pharmaceutical companies to physicians and teaching hospitals. These measures could result in decreased net revenues from our pharmaceutical products and decreased potential returns from our development efforts. Although the PPACA was recently upheld by the U.S. Supreme Court, it is possible that the PPACA may be modified or repealed in the future.

In addition, private insurers, such as MCOs, may adopt their own reimbursement reductions in response to federal or state legislation. Any reduction in reimbursement for our products could materially harm our results of operations. In addition, we believe that the increasing emphasis on managed care in the United States has and will continue to put pressure on the price and usage of our products, which may adversely impact our product sales. Furthermore, when a new product is approved, governmental and private coverage for that product and the amount for which that product will be reimbursed are uncertain. We cannot predict the availability or amount of reimbursement for our product candidates, and current reimbursement policies for marketed products may change at any time.

The MMA established a voluntary prescription drug benefit, called Part D, which became effective in 2006 for all Medicare beneficiaries. We cannot be certain that our currently marketed products will continue to be, or any of our product candidates still in development will be, included in the Medicare prescription drug benefit. Even if our products are included, the private health plans that administer the Medicare drug benefit can limit the number of prescription drugs that are covered on their formularies in each therapeutic category and class. In addition, private managed care plans and other government agencies continue to seek price discounts. Because many of these same private health plans administer the Medicare drug benefit, they have the ability to influence prescription decisions for a larger segment of the population. In addition, certain states have proposed or adopted various programs under their Medicaid programs to control drug prices, including price constraints, restrictions on access to certain products and bulk purchasing of drugs.

If we succeed in bringing additional products to the market, these products may not be considered cost-effective and reimbursement to the patient may not be available or sufficient to allow us to sell our product candidates on a competitive basis to a sufficient patient population. We may need to conduct expensive pharmacoeconomic trials in order to demonstrate the cost-effectiveness of our products and product candidates.

If we become subject to unsolicited public proposals from activist stockholders due to our shifting strategic focus or otherwise, we may experience significant uncertainty that would likely be disruptive to our business and increase volatility in our stock price.

Public companies, particularly those in volatile industries such as the pharmaceutical industry, have been the target of unsolicited public proposals from activist stockholders. The unsolicited and often hostile nature of these public proposals can result in significant uncertainty for current and potential licensors, suppliers, patients, physicians and other constituents, and can cause these parties to change or terminate their business relationships with the targeted company. Companies targeted by these unsolicited proposals from activist stockholders may not be able to attract and retain key personnel as a result of the related uncertainty. In addition, unsolicited proposals can result in stockholder class action lawsuits. The review and consideration of an unsolicited proposal as well as any resulting lawsuits can be a significant distraction for management and employees, and may require the expenditure of significant time, costs and other resources.

Table Of Contents

If we were to receive unsolicited public proposals from activist stockholders, we may encounter all of these risks and, as a result, may be delayed in executing our core strategy. We could be required to spend substantial resources on the evaluation of the proposal as well as the review of other opportunities that never come to fruition. If we were to receive any of these unsolicited public proposals, the future trading price of our common stock is likely to be even more volatile than in the past, and could be subject to wide price fluctuations based on many factors, including uncertainty associated with the proposals.

We may become involved in securities or other class action litigation that could divert management's attention and harm our business.

The stock market has from time to time experienced significant price and volume fluctuations that have affected the ns ır

market prices for the common stock of pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies. These broad market fluctuation may cause the market price of our common stock to decline. In the past, following periods of volatility in the market price of a particular company's securities, securities class action litigation has often been brought against that company. Any securities or other class action litigation asserted against us could have a material adverse effect on our business.
ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS
None.
ITEM 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES
None.
ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable.
ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION
None.
53

Table Of Contents

ITEM 6. EXHIBITS

EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit No.	Description
2.1	Asset Purchase Agreement by and among Breckenridge Pharmaceutical, Inc., on the one hand, and the Company and Cypress Pharmaceuticals, Inc., on the other hand, dated as of August 5, 2013 (previously filed as Exhibit 2.1 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2013 and incorporated herein by reference).
2.2	Joinder Agreement and First Amendment to Asset Purchase Agreement dated September 11, 2013 among Breckenridge Pharmaceutical, Inc., on the one hand, and the Company and Cypress Pharmaceuticals, Inc., on the other hand (previously filed as Exhibit 2.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on September 17, 2013 and incorporated herein by reference).
3.1	Articles of Incorporation of Pernix Therapeutics Holdings, Inc. (previously filed as Exhibit 3.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 15, 2010 and incorporated herein by reference).
3.2	Bylaws of Pernix Therapeutics Holdings, Inc. (previously filed as Exhibit 3.2 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 15, 2010 and incorporated herein by reference).
4.1	Form of certificate representing shares of common stock of Pernix Therapeutics Holdings, Inc. (previously filed as Exhibit 4.1 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 29, 2012 and incorporated herein by reference)
<u>10.1</u> *	Amended and Restated License Agreement by and between Pernix Sleep, Inc. (formerly Somaxon Pharmaceuticals, Inc.) and ProCom One, Inc. dated September 15, 2010.
<u>31.1</u> *	Certification of the Registrant's Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
31.2*	Certification of the Registrant's Principal Accounting Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32.1*	Certification of the Registrant's Chief Executive Officer and Principal Accounting Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
101*	Attached as Exhibit 101 to this report are the following items formatted in XBRL (Extensible Business Reporting Language) (i) Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets as of September 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012 (ii) Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income for the Three and Nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012; (iii) Condensed Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity as of September 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012 (iv) Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Nine months ended September 30, 2013 and
	2012 (v) Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

* Filed herewith.

Table Of Contents

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

PERNIX THERAPEUTICS HOLDINGS, INC.

Date: November 12, 2013 By: /s/ MICHAEL C. PEARCE

Michael C. Pearce

Chief Executive Officer and President

Date: November 12, 2013 By: /s/ TRACY S. CLIFFORD

Tracy S. Clifford

Principal Financial Officer and Principal

Accounting Officer